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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET ( “GEM” ) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE" )

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated

investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities tfraded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities tfraded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this reporf, make no representation as fo its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or

any part of the confents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the 'Directors”) of Hong Kong Life Group Holdings Limited
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard fo the Company. The Directfors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that fo the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurafe and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or decepftive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&HRE

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the
"Directors”) of Hong Kong Life Group Holdings Limited
(the "Company”), | hereby present the annual report
and financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the financial year ended 30
June 2011 (the "Financial Year”).

REVIEW AND PROSPECT

Shrine Business

Owing fo the publication of the government list on the
Review of Columbarium Policy in December 2010, most
of the privately-run columbarium, including the Group's
shrine project in Yuen Long, Hong Kong was classified
on List 2, the overall business of the industry has been
adversely affected. The sale of ancestral shrines of the
Group was slow down since the third quarter of the

Financial Year.

In October 2010, the Planning Department issued notices
under section 23(1) of the Town Planning Ordinance (the
"Notices”) to the subsidiaries of the Company requiring
the Group fo disconfinue the uses over the land or
premises owned by the Group. The Group issued the
Originating Summons to apply for judicial review against
the Notices in February 2011 and the judicial review was
heard on 26 July 2011 at the High Court. The Judge at
the high Court reserved his judgment to a date to be
announced. As at the date of this report, the judgment
has not been given.

In respect of the preliminary proposals for a licensing
scheme on the private columbarium, the second public
consultation on a more detailed framework of the
licensing scheme is sfill stagnant and has no progress.
Nevertheless, the Group is ready for complying with the
requisite requirements of the licensing scheme. Based on
the growing needs of columbarium and shrines in Hong
Kong. the Board is confident in regaining positive growth
in our shrine business.

Annual Report 2011
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&HRE

Paper-offering Business

During the year, only small amount of orders for the
paper-offering products were placed from cusfomers in
Hong Kong. With the increased promotion and visibility
of the brand name "SKEA" in Hong Kong and the
infroduction of new products, the Group is confident that
the business of paper-offering will have a stable growth
in the coming years. We will explore other markets to
promote the high-quality paper-offering products in order
to achieve a better contribution to the Group’s turnover.

Edible Oil Trading Business

Following the disposal of the Company’s entire interest in
Good United Management Limited ("GUM") in February
2011, the Company ceased to have any interest in the
natural gas business. The edible oil trading business
suffered fough setbacks as a result of the slow recovery
of the global market.To streamline the business segments
of the Group, the Directors will fake appropriate measures
fo consolidate the Group’s operations in the coming year.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME AND STOCK
SHORT NAME

The name of the Company was changed from “Aptus
Holdings Limited” to "Hong Kong Life Group Holdings
Limited” by passing a special resolution by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting held on 21 October 2010. The Registrar of
Companies in Cayman lIslands and Hong Kong had
granted approval for the change of name of the
Company on 22 October 2010 and 24 November 2010
respectively. The stock short name for trading in the
shares of the Company on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) was changed from "APTUS HOLDINGS”
to "HK LIFE GROUP” with effect from 8 December 2010.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FE&HRE

APPRECIATION ng 25t

| would like to take this opportunity to express my HRAZHKBHIZBREE TF - ERBIT &
gratitude to all our investors, customers, bankers, BEF BERAREBSUFEREE—EHAEEZ
contractors, advisors and business partners for their X KAFTRHEEETALREFEEHENE
continued support to the Group over the past year and SEEHMEH - E@LET—0  BAEEAIE
fo thank all of our staff for their valuable contribution and 3 & Al 5 1 & 0 LU ©

effort to the Group. We shall commit our best effort to

bring a promising future for the Group.

Lam Wai Pong zE

Chairman L SEE

Hong Kong, 23 September 2011 8 —E——FhA=-+t=8H
Annual Report 2011 ERENEEZERERAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s overall revenue of approximately HK$13.8
million for the year ended 30 June 2011, representing
an increase of approximately HK$10.0 million or 263.2%
as compared to the year ended 30 June 2010. The
significant increase was primarily attributable to the
revenue contributed by the provision of shrine amounted
to approximately HK$13.7 million for the year under

review.

For the year ended 30 June 2011, the Group’s gross
profit margin increased from 0.45% to 54.3%. The
increased revenue, together with the refined margin,
resulted in a significant improvement of gross profit
from approximately HK$17,000 in 2010 to approximately
HK$7.5 million in 2011.

The selling expense was a commission relating to
provision of shrine and paper-offering business of
approximately HK$5.8 million in 2011 (2010: Nil).

The administrative expenses were augmented by
approximately HK$18.4 million, a 48.3% increase to
HK$56.5 million in 2011 from approximately HK$38.1
million in 2010. Such increase mainly attributed to the
legal and professional fee of approximately HK$33.1
million (2010: approximately HK$19.5 million), including
legal fee for the judicial review and consultancy services
for development of the site.

Finance costs increased by approximately HK$36.5
million to approximately HK$61.5 million from
approximately HK$25.0 million in prior year which
was mainly due to increase in imputed interest
expense on settlement of outstanding promissory
note of approximately HK$38.8 million in 2011 (2010:
approximately HK$0.9 million). As a result of the
settlement, the gearing of the Group has further been

improved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, the Group recorded a net gain
on disposal of non-core subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$20.7 million.

Compared with the year of 2010, the Group’s LBITDA
(Loss before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation)
from continuing operations slightly decreased by
approximately HK$4.2 million from approximately
HK$36.9 million to approximately HK$32.7 million in 2011.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2011, the Group held total assets of
approximately HK$1.1 billion (2010: approximately
HKS$1.0 billion), including cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$21.0 million (2010: approximately
HK$8.9 million). The significant increase in assets was
mainly due fo the recognition of goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Casdon Management Limited (*Casdon”)
of approximately HKS$0.9 billion.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had ftotal liabilities
of approximately HK$148.2 million (Year 2010:
HK$375.3 million) which includes convertible bonds of

approximately HK$110.8 million.

As at 30 June 2011, the gearing ratio, expressed as
a percentage of fotal debts over total assets was
approximately 13.5% (30 June 2010: 37.5%).

During the year, the Company raised fund from the
subscription of 74,100,000 shares, the rights issue of
1,241,331,426 shares and the placing of 356,160,000
shares of approximately HK$290.2 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had no contingent
liabilities (30 June 2010: Nil).

Annual Report 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEE R 2

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND ANY RELATED
HEDGES

No significant exchange risk is expected as the Group's
cash, borrowings, income and expenses are settled
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group had neither foreign
currency hedging activities nor any financial instruments
for hedging purposes during the year.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As af 30 June 2011, the Group did not have any charge
on its assets (30 June 2010: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During August 2010, the Company entered info a
subscription agreement with a subscriber to issue and
allot 74,100,000 shares of HK$0.01 each fo the subscriber
at a price of HK$0.17 per share.

In October 2010, the Company proposed a share
consolidation of every fen issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of HKS$0.10
each and a rights issue on the basis of three rights
shares for every one consolidated share held. The share
consolidation became effective on 3 December 2010.
During January 2011, 1,241,331,426 rights shares were
allofted and issued fo the qualifying shareholders at a
subscription price of HK$0.20 per rights share.

In November 2010, the Company repurchased 8 shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange
at a cash consideration of HK$0.42. These 8 shares were
cancelled on 24 November 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board proposed to increase the authorized share
capital of the Company from HK$200,000,000 to
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares
of HKS$0.10 each by the creation of an additional
8,000,000,000 shares of HKS0.10 each. The ordinary
resolution fo increase the authorized share capital
was passed by shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 6 April 2011.

During May 2011, the Company issued and allotted
356,160,000 placing shares of HK$0.10 each at the
placing price of HK$0.10 per placing share to not less
than six placees pursuant to the placing agreement.

During the year ended 30 June 2011, a fotal of
680,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each (prior to the share
consolidation became effective on 3 December 2010)
and 125,733,444 shares of HK$0.10 each (after the share
consolidation became effective on 3 December 2010) of
the Company were issued as a result of the conversion
of convertible bonds issued by the Company on 27 May
2010.

As at 30 June 2011, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 2,137,002,012 shares of HK$0.10 each
(30 June 2010: 3,383,671,428 shares of HK$0.01 each).

EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION POLICIES AND
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had 15 staffs (30 June
2010: 17 staffs). The total staff costs and Directors’
remuneration for the year were approximately HK$11.3.
The Group’s remuneration policy is formulated on the
basis of the performance and experience of individual
employee and is in line with the market practices.
The Group offers to its employees other fringe benefits
including medical benefits. Share options may be
granfed to employees based on performance evaluation
in order to provide incentives and rewards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group has invested in shares of certain companies
which are fraded on the Stock Exchange. As at 30 June
2011, the Group held a balance of financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss amounted to approximately
HK$7.7 million (2010: Nil).

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any

significant investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 14 January 2011, Casdon entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Advant Gain Holdings Limited
("Advant Gain”) in relation to the acquisition of 50%
equity interest in Max Strong Limited ("Max Strong”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Advant Gain. Max
Strong, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Noble Best
Investment Limited, held 10% interests in the lands and
houses in Yuen Long, Hong Kong.

Following the disposal of natural gas joint ventures and
the termination of profit sharing rights with respect fo
the Xin Jiang OQilfield in financial year ended 30 June
2010, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement on 28 February 2011 with Rayman Holdings
Limited, a third party independent of the Company and
its connected persons, in relation to the disposal of its
entire inferest in GUM, which was principally engaged
in the natural gas joint venture business, fo Rayman
Holdings Limited at a consideration of US$1. The disposal
was completed on 28 February 2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEwmR 2

On 3 June 2011, the Company entfered info a
memorandum of understanding with the vendor in
relation fo the proposed acquisition of the entire issued
share capital in On Yan Investments Limited ("On Yan")
which is interested in the sole and exclusive operating
and selling rights of a cemetery located in Guangdong
Province, the PRC. On 11 August 2011, the Company
and the vendor of On Yan entered into a supplemental
memorandum of understanding to extend the period
of entering into a legally binding sale and purchase
agreement to 31 October 2011.
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@ o R-ZZE-——FNAB+—-H ALFHEZ
CRERTNHARBESE S AEE
WROZEBEHZNWHRREREZE-Z2——F 1
B=t+—H-
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EZEERSHEEAE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LAM Wai Pong ("Mr. Lam”), aged 56, was appoinfed
as an Executive Director on 8 January 2010 and re-
designated as Chairman of the Board and Remuneration
Committee with effect from 18 June 2010. He is also
director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lam
is responsible for the business development, strategic
planning and marketing for the Group. He holds a
Bachelor Degree of Science (Engineering) from University
of London, United Kingdom. Mr. Lam is a Chartered Civil
Engineer, a member of the Institution of Civil Engineering
and a member of the Hong Kong Instfitution of Engineers.
He has over 30 years of extensive experience in the civil
engineering fields. Mr. Lam has acted as an independent
non-executive director and member of each of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of China Au
Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange) since August 2005.

Mr. LAU Chi Kwong ("Mr. Lau”), aged 41, was appoinfed
as an Executive Director on 11 June 2010. He is also
the director of various subsidiaries of the Group. He is
responsible for the overall business development and
marketing implementation of the Group. Mr. Lau is an
associate member of the Australian Institute of Chartered
Loss Adjusters and the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
and a senior associate member of the Australian
and New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance
("ANZIIF"). He is also a full member of the Institute of
Management Specialists. Mr. Lau holds a Diploma of
Business (Loss Adjusting) issued by the ANZIIF and a
Higher Diploma in Insurance Studies from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EZEERSHEEAE

Ms. Leung Wai Kuen Cerene ("Ms. Leung”), aged 43,
was appointed as Executive Director on 18 April 2011.
She is also the director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor's degree in Business
Administration from the San Francisco State University, the
USA. She has over 10 years’ experience in finance and
accounting, including auditing, budgeting, cost confrol,
and formulating policies and strategies over the financial
operations and management for various companies.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ("Mr. Poon”), aged 39, was
appointed as Executive Director on 21 October 2010
and was re-designated as Non-executive Director on 12
July 2011. He is also the director of various subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Poon is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Cerfified Public Accountants and a
member of CPA Australia. He holds a Bachelor Degree in
Administrative Studies from York University of Canada and
a Master Degree in Practicing Accounting from Monash
University of Australia. Mr. Poon is the independent non-
executive director of China Uptown Group Company
Limited (stock code: 2330) since November 2006 and
Sino Dragon New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code:
395) since January 2010. He was the independent non-
executive director of Sun International Group Limited
(stock code: 8029) from September 2008 to August 2011.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EZEERSHEEAE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LI Mei Kuen ("Ms. Li"), aged 42, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and member
of audit committee and remuneration committee on 23
August 2010. Ms. Li graduated from La Trobe University,
Melbourne, Australia and received a Bachelor Degree in
commerce (accounting). She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA
Australia. Ms. Li worked in two infernational accounting
firms for over 9 years. She has been actively involved
in the audit, listing and due diligence engagements
of companies in various industries and has exftensive
experience in auditing and finance. She is acting as
the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
of a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Siu Kwok Chung ("Mr. Siu”), aged 53, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director on 18 April
2011. He is an expert in Consumer Electronics Industry
and Agricultural Industry. In 1988, he founded his Siu’s
Electronics Production and Trading Company. The
products were mainly electronics remotes and household
electronics appliances. Owing fo fast expansion of
business, he had to raise the production scale and
moved the Hong Kong production plants fo Mainland
China in 1991. At that moment, he was responsible for
his factory’s overall management, strategic planning,
business sales and marketing and new products research
and development. The business scope was specially
focused in Hong Kong and overseas markets such as
India, Association of Southeast Asian Natfions and Middle
East. In 2005, Mr. Siu joined Chaoda Modern Agriculture
(Holding) Limited. Currently, Mr. Siu is the Managing
Director of its subsidiary, Chaoda Vegetable & Fruits
(Wholesale and Logistics) Limited. He is responsible for
the Sale and Marketing Management. Overall, Mr. Siu has
more than 23 years experiences in the related fields.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EERSHREEAE

Mr. Sit Bun ("Mr. Sit"), aged 72, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 18 April 2011. He
is the chairman of Chinacomm International Limited in
Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was one of the pioneers in infroducing
the wireless paging fechnology into the PRC. He also
assisted in modernizing the International Direct Dialing
call services from Guangdong Province to Hong Kong
and Macau. Mr. Sit has over 25 years’ experience in
telecommunications. He was a member of the Eighth,
Ninth and Tenth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in Beijing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Kwok Fan, aged 35, joined the Group as the
Financial Controller in May 2010. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
Associatfion of Chartered Cerfified Accountants. He has
over 13 years of experience in financial management, risk
management, accounting and taxation and previously
worked for several companies the securities of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LEUNG King Fai, aged 40, is the Company Secretary of
the Company. He is a member of the CPA Australia and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed fo establish good corporate
governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices. The Directors strongly believe that reasonable
and sound corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and
enhancing shareholders’ interests.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the
Company has complied the provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the "CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the "GEM Listing Rules”) on GEM of the Stock
Exchange with the exception of provision A.4.1. The non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for
a specific terms. They are, however, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with Article 87
of the Articles of Association of the Company. Any new
Director appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy
or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-
election at the next following general meeting or at the
next following annual general meeting of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of whom
three are Executive Directors, one is Non-executive
Director and three are Independent Non-executive
Directors. One Independent Non-executive Director has
the appropriate professional accounting qualifications or
related financial management experience and expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors the annual confirmation of
independence pursuant fo Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers that all of them are independent.

The Board is responsible for the overall strategy of the
Group and the ultimate responsibility for the day to
day management of the Company is delegated to the
management. For significant matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board, the management must report
back to and obtain prior approval from the Board before
making decisions or entering info any commitments on
behalf of the Company.

The Board conducts meeting on a regular basis and
on an ad hoc basis. Notice of at least 14 days for the
regular meetings and reasonable notice for non-regular
meetings are given to all Directors in order that they can
attend the meetings and include matters for discussion if
necessary. Board members are provided with all agendas
and adequate information for their review within
reasonable time before the meetings. After the meeting,
draftf minutes are circulated fo all directors for comments
before confirmation. Minutes of board meetings and
meetings of board committees are kept by the company
secretary and are available for inspection by the
directors. Each director is entitled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
expense of the Company.
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The Board held at least a board meeting for each #EZ@SZEZFLHET—REZTEEE -HE
quarter. Details of the attendance of the Directors during —Z——§XA=+HLEEREEIHER

the year ended 30 June 2011 are as follows: HBWOT :
Attendance
HE =
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Wai Pong MEFHEE 8/8
Mr. Lau Chi Kwong BE R EE 8/8
Mr. Chan Ting BRE L4 2/2
(resigned on 24 September 2010) (R=ZB—ZFFNA=1THHBE)
Mr. Fung King Him Daniel GRS 2/2

(re-designated as non-executive
Director on 21 October 2010)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (appoinfed
on 21 October 2010 and
re-designated as non-executive
Director on 12 July 2011)
Non-executive Director
Mr. Fung King Him Daniel (re-designated
on 21 October 2010 and resigned
on 30 December 2010)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zou Qi Jun
(retired on 21 October 2010)
Mr.To Yan Ming Edmond
(resigned on 26 October 2010)
Mr. Man Fu Wah
(resigned on 23 August 2010)
Ms. Li Mei Kuen
(appointed on 23 August 2010)
Mr.Yuen Shiu Hang Terry
(appointed on 21 October 2010 and
resigned on 18 April 2011)
Mr. So Chi Yin
(appointed on 26 October 2010 and
resigned on 18 April 2011)
Mr. Siu Kwok Chung
(appointed on 18 April 201T)
Mr. Sit Bun (appointed on 18 April 2011)
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BRELE 6/6
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FHTES
BB B 0/2
(R-F-ZFBFL+AZ-+—HAF
WR-F-FBFFZA=1HEFE)

BYKHITES

BEM L 1/2
(R=ZF—ZFF+H=1—HREIF)

HBIBEE 1/3
(R=F—ZFF+HA=1NABE)

NEERE 0/1
(R=ZF—ZFFENA=+=HFT)

TEBLZL 717
(R=FE—ZFFENA=F+=ZHEZ)

RBERE 3/5

(R=ZZFE—ZFFE+ A=+ —HEZF
YR=ZF——FNMA+/VHEHE)
HTELE 3/4
(R=E—ZFFFA-NAEZHF
WR=F——FMA+/VHEHE)

MEREE 1/1
(R=F——FHA+HEEF)
BERE (R=F——FOF+NHEZHE) 0/1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
are separated to ensure a clear division. The Chairman
is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategies
and overall business development planning while the
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the
daily operations and implementation of the strategies of
the Group. The separation ensures a balance of power
and authority so that power is not concentrated on any
individual.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee is chaired by Mr. Lam Wai
Pong, an Executive Director and Chairman of the Board
of the Company. Currently, the remunerafion committee’s
other three members are Ms. Li Mei Kuen, Mr. Siu Kwok
Chung and Mr. Sit Bun, all Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company.

The role of the remuneration committee is fo recommend
to the Board a framework for remunerating the Board and
key executfives and fo defermine specific remuneration
packages for each Executive Director of the Company. In
carrying out of the above, the remuneration committee
may obtain independent external legal and other
professional advice as deemed necessary. The expenses
of such advice shall be borne by the Company.

The remuneration package for the Executive Directors
of the Company comprises a basic salary and a
performance-related bonus for their contributions. The
Independent Non-executive Directors receive a basic
fee for their services. All revisions to the remuneration
packages of the Directors are subject fo the review and
approval of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration
for each Director are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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During the year ended 30 June 2011, the remuneration
committee met four times. Individual attendance of each

FHWEEEREBE_T——F X A=ZTHLF
ERTTHNREE BREESHECERLE

committee member at the meeting is as follows: RUT
Attendance
HE =
Mr. Lam Wai Pong MEBEE 4/4
Mr. To Yan Ming Edmond HEREE 1/3
(resigned on 26 October 2010) (R=F—ZFF+HA=1 AT
Mr. Zou Qi Jun PHEEE 1/2
(retired on 21 October 2010) (R=F-ZFF+H=+—HRE)
Mr. Man Fu Wah NEELE 0/1
(resigned on 23 August 2010) (R=ZZF—ZFFNH=1T=ZHEFF)
Ms. Li Mei Kuen FERBuL 3/3
(appointed on 23 August 2010) (R=F-ZFFNNA=+=ZHEZE)
Mr. Yuen Shiu Hang Terry RBEXE 1/2
(appointed on 21 October 2010 and (R=ZE—ZFFL+ /A1 —HEZHF
resigned on 18 April 2011) WR=F——FMA1/HEE)
Mr. So Chi Yin BrELEE 1/1
(appointed on 26 October 2010 (R=ZE—ZFFEL A NHEZF
and resigned on 18 April 2011) TER=F——FMA+/NHEBE)
Mr. Siu Kwok Chung BEIMREE N/A T8 A
(appointed on 18 April 2011) (R=F——FWA+NHEZF)
Mr. Sit Bun (appointed on 18 April 2011) BEAE (R-ZF——FWA+/NHEZF) N/A TiE A

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established on 26
October 2010 with specific ferms of reference. It currently

REEZEE

BEIRIY

RRAARZZE-ZFTA-S+AEHRIREER
ERBESEE -REZESRAN

comprises of four members, namely Mr. Poon Lai Yin
Michael (Chairman of nomination committee), a Non-
executive Director of the Company, Ms. Li Mei Kuen, Mr.
Siu Kwok Chung and Mr. Sit Bun, all are Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company. The nomination
committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the Board for selection and nomination of directors
and senior management. The nomination committee
also reviews the structure and composition of the board
of Directors and assesses the independence of Non-

executfive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The nomination committee met once for the year ended
30 June 2011 with the attendance of each committee
member as follows:

TREREHE

REEBBNBE-F——FAA=TAILE
ERGT-REE - SEARAAIREHE
EMF :

Attendance
HER
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BREELE 1/1
(appointed on 21 October 2010) (R=ZE—ZFFL+ A=+ —HEZF)
Ms. Li Mei Kuen X SR 1/1
(appointed on 23 August 2010) (R=ZZFE—ZFFENA=+=ZHEZE)
Mr.Yuen Shiu Hang Terry REBEEE 0/1
(appointed on 21 October 2010 (R=ZE—ZFFL+HA-1—HEZHL
and resigned on 18 April 2011) WR-F——FHA+/HEHE)
Mr. So Chi Yin HrELE 0/1
(appointed on 26 October 2010 (R=—FE—FFF+A-1TNHEZHF
and resigned on 18 April 2011) WR-FE——FHA+HEHE)
Mr. Siu Kwok Chung BWEREE N/A T iE
(appointed on 18 April 2011) (R=ZF——FWA+NHEZF)
Mr. Sit Bun (appointed on 18 April 2011) BELAE (R=F——FOA+NNHEZEF) N/A 18 A

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee
with written terms of reference based on the guidelines
recommended by the Hong Kong Instifute of Certified
Public Accountants and the mandatory provisions set
out in the CG Code. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and quarterly reports
and to provide advices and comments thereon fo the
Board. During the year, the audit committee discussed
and reviewed with auditors and the management the
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The audit committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely Ms. Li Mei Kuen, Mr. Siu Kwok Chung and Mr. Sit
Bun. One of the three committee members possessed
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
expertfise. Ms. Li Mei Kuen is the Chairman of the audit

committee.
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Individual attendance of each committee member at

the meetings during the year ended 30 June 2011 is as HFEZEEZHERNOT :

follows:

EREERERBE-_Z——FRA=tHL

Attendance
HER
Mr. To Yan Ming Edmond HEREE 1/1
(resigned on 26 October 2010) (R=ZFE—ZFF+ A= NHABE)
Mr. Zou Qi Jun BEEEE 0/1
(retired on 21 October 2010) (R=ZF-—ZFF+H=+—HRE)
Mr. Man Fu Wah NEELE N/A T 3E A
(resigned on 23 August 2010) (R=F—ZFFNA=1+=ZHBF)
Ms. Li Mei Kuen TEBLL 4/4
(appointed on 23 August 2010) (R-ZF—FFENA-F+=HEZ)
Mr.Yuen Shiu Hang Terry RBRERE 1/2
(appointed on 21 October 2010 (R=ZB—ZFFEL A=+ —HEZT
and resigned on 18 April 2011) BR=F——FMHA+/NVHEE)
Mr. So Chi Yin BrELE 2/2
(appointed on 26 October 2010 (R=ZZB—ZFFEL A NHEZETE
and resigned on 18 April 2011) BR=F——FHAF+/NVHEE)
Mr. Siu Kwok Chung BEIMEE 1/1
(appointed on 18 April 2011) (R=F——FWA+/AEZF)
Mr. Sit Bun (appointed on 18 April 2011) BEEAE (R=F——FHAT+NHEZF) 0/1

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. The Directors ensure the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting

standards. A statement by the Company’s independent

auditors about their reporting responsibilities in

the Independent Auditors’ Report on the Group's

consolidated financial statement is set out on pages 39

to 41.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with the required standard
as set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
tfransactions by the Directors throughout the year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board with the Audit Committee are responsible
for maintaining sound and effective internal confrol
systems for the Company to safeguard its assets and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems. The Board will from time
fo fime conduct a review of the Group’s internal control
systems. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control system, covering financial,
operatfional and compliance controls and risk

management functions during the year under review.

In such review, the Board has considered factors such
as changes since the last review, scope and quality
of management’s monitoring of risks; incidence of
significant control failings and weaknesses identified;
and effectiveness relating to financial reporting and
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
including the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has delegated to executive management the
design, implementatfion and ongoing monitoring of such
system of internal controls covering financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management
procedures.
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AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

During the Financial Year, the aggregate amount
of remuneration to auditors for audit services was
approximately HK$510,000, including the Group’s annual
audit fee of approximately HK$450,000 and approximately
HK$60,000 for non-audit service performed.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board puts great emphasis on investor relationship
in parficular fair disclosure and comprehensive report of
the Company’s performance and activities.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual
general meetings of the Company and the Directors
always make efforts to fully address any questions raised
by the shareholders at the annual general meetings.

The Company provides comprehensive information
about the Group in its website to investors and potential
investors. Hard copies of the annual reports, interim
report, quarterly reports and circulars are all sent fo
shareholders, as well they are available at the Company’s
website.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT EEZ=E#Hi&E

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year
by business is set out in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 42 of this report
and in the accompanying notes of the consolidated
financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make charitable donations during the
year (2010: HK$5,119,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL, CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the convertible bonds, share
capital and share options of the Company during
the year are set out in notes 33, 34 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 47 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2011, the Company had no retained
profits available for cash distribution and/or distribufion
in specie. As at 30 June 2011, under the Companies
Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
Company’s share premium account and capital reserve
of approximately HK$866,989,000 and HK$15,826,000,
respectively, may be distributed to the shareholders,
provided that immediately following the dafe on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business. The share premium
account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the five financial years is set ouft on
pages 155 and 156 of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up fo the date of this

report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Wai Pong (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Kwong (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Ting (resigned on 24 September 2010)
Mr. Fung King Him Daniel (re-designated as Non-execuftive
Director on 21 October 2010)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael
(appointed on 21 October 2010 and
re-designated as Non-executive Direcfor
on 12 July 2011)
Ms. Leung Wai Kuen Cerene (appointed on 18 April 2011)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung King Him Daniel
(resigned on 30 December 2010)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr.TO Yan Ming Edmond (resigned on 26 Ocfober 2010)

Mr.ZOU Qi Jun (refired on 21 October 2010)

Mr. MAN Fu Wah (resigned on 23 August 2010)

Ms. LI Mei Kuen (appointed on 23 August 2010)

Mr.YUEN Shiu Hang Terry (appointed on 21 October 2010
and resigned on 18 April 2011)

Mr. SO ChiYin (appointed on 26 October 2010 and
resigned on 18 April 2011T)

Mr. SIU Kwok Chung (appointed on 18 April 2011)

Mr. SIT Bun (appointed on 18 April 2011)

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”), Mr. Lam Wai
Pong and Mr. Lau Chi Kwong shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting ("AGM") and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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In accordance with article 86(3), Ms. Leung Wai Kuen
Cerene, being new director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the Board shall hold office unfil the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offers herself for re-
election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant fo Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of
them are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company
and the senior management of the Group are set out on
pages 14 to 17 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Lam Wai Pong, Mr. Lau Chi Kwong and Ms. Li Mei Kuen
have entered into service agreements with the Company.
Their appointments can be ferminated by either party
giving to the ofther not less than three months notice
in writing. All the Directors have no fixed term of office
but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
pursuant to the Articles.

None of the Directors has entered info any service
contract with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT EZE#H{i&E

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other confracts of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company had a material inferest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any fime
during the year.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 30 June 2011, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentfures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) which
were nofified fo the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,
fo be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,

were as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of

the Company

REABZBRGBREFRBZHER

Approximate

percentage

Nature of Number of of issued

Name of Directors interests/Capacity Shares underlying Shares share capital

g8 HERTREZ

Esn4 [ $:1:3-04:-1) 3} EL L BREAL

Mr. Lam Wai Pong Personal - 5,940,000 0.33%
MERBEE BA (note 1)
(Hi=ET)

Mr. Lau Chi Kwong Personal - 5,940,000 0.33%
AEREE BA (note 2)
(F£2)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Personal - 5,920,000 0.33%
BRELE 5PN (nofe 3)
(Ff=E3)

Notes: MtsE :
1. The personal inferest of Mr. Lam Wai Pong represents an 1. MEBLEZBAEZRKEREAQATRBEZE

inferest in 5,940,000 underlying Shares in respect of options

granted by the Company as detailed below.

2. The personal interest of Mr. Lau Chi Kwong represents an

interest in 5,940,000 underlying Shares in respect of options

granted by the Company as detailed below.

3. The personal interest of Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael represents

an interest in 5,920,000 underlying Shares in respect of

options granted by the Company as detailed below.
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Share Option Scheme PR HERT &I

Details of movements in the share options under the BREFTEHET2BERERBZ=Z——F X
share option scheme during the year ended 30 June EB=+HBULEFEZEHFBUOT :
2011 are as follows:

Number of share

Number of  Exercised during  Exercise price options outstanding

Name Date of grant  share options the period  (HKS per share) Exercise period as at 30 June 2011

T&E

#e RHAH BREHE FREAR (ERETR) RE R-E--£XA=1H

WRTEZBREHE

Mr. Lam Wai Pong 2 February 2011 5,940,000 - 018 2 February 2011 5,940,000
HEREE “E--E-H-H to 1 February 2016
“2--FCACHE
ZE-55Zh-H

Mr. Lau Chi Kwong 2 February 2011 5,940,000 - 0.18 2 February 2011 5,940,000
YR EE “E--f-f-H fo 1 February 2016
“E--HCfCRE
ZE-REZf-H

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael 2 February 2011 5,920,000 - 0.18 2 February 2011 5,920,000
BRELE “E--%ZRZH to 1 February 2016
ZE--§CfCZRE
Z2-7"%Zh-H

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 30 KBREXFEEZEEN RBEZZT——F<A=+
June 20171, none of the Directors or chief executive of HIEFE  ARAARESERIETHAEES
the Company has any interests or short positions in AT REFAHRELIE (EERESRBEHR
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the  fIEXVER) ZR#H - HERD R &% D EE
Company or any of its associated corporations (within B ERTHERADTAREEH R E 5K H 5352
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the KEEBEZBETMZEEZRAR  RBRBEAIER
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO LM BIZE5.46 8566 BME AR D T R BHR
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock FrzEHEH KA -

Exchange pursuant fo Rules 5.46 to 5.66 of the GEM

Listing Rules.
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DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” above, at no
fime during the year was the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors and
chief executives of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any body corporate, and none of the
Directors and chief executives or their spouses or children
under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such
right during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2011, so far as is known fo the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company, the interests
and short positions of the persons or corporations in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which have
been disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO or, were, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company were

as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares of the Company REAT KRB ZHFE
Approximate

Capacity/Nature Number of ordinary Percentage of
Name of Shareholders of interest shares held shareholding
BRREE 2B 5/ BEEE HAEERYE BABREDI K
Red Rabbit Capital Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 365,282,000 17.09%
FREFBERAT (M) BREAA
Kong Lung Cheung (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation 365,282,000 17.09%
THEE (M) REZEE 2 ER
Rich Gems Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 117,240,066 5.49%
Rich Gems Limited (Ff#F2) BaEEA
Hui Chi Kwan (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 117,240,066 5.49%
FEE (f1EE2) REZEEER
Zhang Ming Beneficial owner 150,000,000 7.02%
REA BREBA
Notes: B =

1.  Mr Kong Lung Cheung has equity inferest of 100% of the 1. SIESX4EREFARERAERATCRITRA
issued share capital of Red Rabbit Capital Limited. The Z100%MR AR o WERRM 2 IR 17 B R R & <
shares referred to herein relates to the same parcel of shares ERATFEZEEEER —HMKRM -

held by Red Rabbit Capital Limited

2. Mr. Hui Chi Kwan has equity interest of 100% of the issued 2. #AEEL£EZFAERCh Gems LimitedB #4788
share capital of Rich Gems Limited. The shares referred to 7R Z100%88 75 # 2= o It B2 1R it 2 B% 19 EdRich
herein relates to the same parcel of shares held by Rich Gems LimitedfiFE&EBR — LR #H ©

Gems Limited

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2011, the RBRITEBEEN R=-=E——FE~H=+H:
Company was not notified of any other relevant interests  ARAF I \EHMNERKATRIEB SRS &5
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the  #336¢ BEB X B MhADERAD TR
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept  {HEHEERBRHE 2 EF M EMEERESZRAR

by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there were no significant transactions
which require to be disclosed as connected fransactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five
customers accounted for 31.1% of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included
therein amounted for 7.5%. Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 81.2% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amount fo 39.0%.

None of the Directors of the Company, or any of their
associates or any other shareholders, which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Artficles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

The Company issued and allotted 74,100,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each to a subscriber at a price of HKS$0.17
per share in August 2010 and, in May 2011, 356,160,000
shares of HK$0.10 each were successfully placed by the
placing agent to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.10 per share.
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In November 2010, the Company repurchased 8 shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange
at a cash consideration of HK$0.42. These 8 shares were
cancelled in November 2010.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 30 June
2011, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders
of the Company or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business that
competed or might compete with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, af
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital
was held by the public as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Subject fo the deviations as disclosed in Corporate
Governance Report set out on pages 18 to 26 of the
Company’'s annual report, the Company has complied
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practice set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules during the year

under reviewed.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events after the reporting period
of the Group are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT EZE#Hi&E

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION EEEHEH

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the  RIFAIZER EmRBIE17.50A() K ESE
changes in the information of directors are as follows: Bz@sumT :

(1) Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael, an Non-executive Director (1) ARQABFHNTESERBELALEBELRRE

of the Company, resigned as independent non- BEERERERAT (EABIAIERL
executive director and member of audit committee TAR) CBLENTESUREZEZE
and remuneration committee of Sun international eRFNEESRE BH=ZF——FAh
Resources Limited, a company listed on the GEM of B—BiEM-

the Stock Exchange, with effect from 1 September
2011.

(2) Ms. Leung Wai Kuen Cerene is entitled to the (2) REIEL LT ES H30,0008T2EE -
remuneration of HK$30,000 per month.

(3) Both of Mr. Siu Kwok Chung and Mr. Sit Bun are  (3) #EEM L4 REEELE TES A10,000
entitled fo the remuneration of HK$10,000 per month. Bz E

AUDITOR BB

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended #HE-_E——SAXA=tHLEEZHZAU®
30 June 2011 have been audited by RSM Nelson Wheeler HRERCLEHTHEE (FB) ST ERE
who will retire and offer themselves for re-appointment at  # - Mz EE (FH) SIS KIS NIER R
the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for their reappointment  HREFEAE FREVESEEHEE - XA T
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. BREERREBFAELRE-—BEHFEEF
LEE(EB) STMBEMIRER -

On behalf of the Board REEFE

Mr. Lam Wai Pong zE

Chairman AE

Hong Kong, 23 September 2011 EB —E——FhB=-+=H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT %MV # Al &

RSM Nelson Wheeler

PinE E(FE) SIS HM

Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hong Kong Life Group Holdings Limited (the *Company”)
and ifts subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) set out on pages 42 to 154, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2011, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and ofher explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial

statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a frue and fair view in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT %MV # Al &

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant fo the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT %MV # Al &

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 30 June 2011, and of the Group’s results and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Emphasis of matter - material uncertainty regarding the
going concern assumption

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to
note 2 to the financial statements which mentions
that the Group incurred a loss of HK$95,438,000 for
the year ended 30 June 2011, and as at 30 June 2011,
the Group had an outstanding case of judicial review
taken out by the Group against the nofice issued by the
Planning Department of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region under Section 23(1)
of the Town Planning Ordinance to the subsidiaries of
the Group alleging unauthorised development by way
of columbarium use and/or storage use on certain
leasehold land owned by the Group. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

RSM Nelson Wheeler
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 September 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

melER

2011 2010
—E——-fF —E-2F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt = TR FTEx
Continuing operations BEREXER
Revenue & 8 13,771 3,780
Cost of goods sold EEEmMA (6.293) (3.763)
Gross profit EF 7,478 17
Other income Hebug A 9 173 1,207
Selling expenses HEMX (5.781) -
Administrative expenses THR X (56,507) (38,148)
Loss from operations REBR (54,637) (36,924)
Finance costs BE A 11 (61,521) (24,969)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHMB ARz E 37(c) 20,738 -
Share of loss of a jointly FEAh — B HRZ &
controlled entity BRBE 23 18) -
Loss before tax BB 18 (95.438) (61,893)
Income tax expense Fri8Rimx 12 - -
Loss for the year from continuing #HEEEE£E>
operations rEEBER 13 (95,438) (61,893)
Discontinued operations BRIEEK
Profit for the year from ERLEERZ
discontinued operations AEEE R 18 - 190,979
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (BE) &7 (95.438) 129,086

EELEwEEZRERAR

HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT #Z& sk

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Note HK$'000 HK$ 000
B = FHET FET
Attributable to: PEAL -
Owners of the Company RAREEA
Loss from continuing SEREER 2B
operations (95.347) (61,928)
Profit from discontinued ERIEER 2RR
operations - 190,979
(Loss)/profit attributable to RATEE AEL
owners of the Company (B518) %A 15 (95.347) 129,051
Non-controlling interests FERER
(Loss)/profit from continuing FEKEEK 2
operations (B518) =7 N 35
Profit from discontinued BRI ZIEF]
operations - -
(Loss)/profit attributable to IR ER B
non-controlling interests (B518) &7 ©n 35
(95.,438) 129,086
(Loss)/earnings per share R (BB EF 17 (restated)
From continuing and REFELSEERR (E35)
discontinued operations BRIEER
- basic — 5K (HKS$1.5835T)  HKS7.9458 7T
- diluted — = N/ATEHA N/AT3E A
From continuing operations REFELCEER
- basic —HA (HKS$1.58385E)  (HK$S3.81383T)
- diluted — s N/ATEHA N/ATEA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #F&2EKHE%

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

2011 2010
—B——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHER FET
(Restated)
(E5))
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (BE) &7 (95.438) 129,086
Other comprehensive income: Hitb2E K :
Exchange differences reclassified RHEEKMBATBEH DL
to income statement on ENERCELER
disposal of subsidiaries (4,260) (19,990)
Exchange differences on RpEBIEEMEEZ
translating foreign operations ERER 96 486
Other comprehensive income AEEHMR2ERE
for the year, net of tax KRB E (4,164) (19,504)
Total comprehensive income AEEZHERRERE
for the year (99.602) 109,582
Attributable to: PEAE -
Owners of the Company RRABREEA (99.520) 109,401
Non-controlling interests TR ER (82) 181
(99.602) 109,582
BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & & B %A R &

AT 30 JUNE 2011 R=F——FXA=1H

2011 2010 2009
—B——F ZE-TF ZTTAF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEE FixT FET FExT
(restated)
(E31)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERRE 19 977 769 45
Prepaid lease payments FANHEERIE 20 26,765 25,465 -
Investment in a jointly contfrolled RIERZR&IER2RE
enfity 23 64,982 - -
Goodwill (GRS 21 939,415 939,415 -
1,032,139 965,649 45
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 78 24 61 - -
Properties held for sale HIEFEYE 25 21,585 - -
Properties under development BREPYE 26 7,030 15,890 -
Trade and other receivables JE L2 B o0 R EL A & W SRR TE
and prepayments AR FE(SFRIE 27 21,232 5,752 34,995
Financial assets at fair value BAFELEZAREZ
through profit or loss cHEE 28 7.719 - -
Current tax assets RBHIEEE - 10 1
Assets classified as held for sales  F|BIFEHEZERE - - 350,193
Bank and cash balances RITRESHET 29 20,976 8,930 1,990
78,603 30,582 387,179
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables and FE A BR X 2 EL At FE 4 5018
accrued liabilities UREFEE 30 37,085 35,164 10,739
Borrowings BE - - 36,145
Liabilities associated with assets NABEHEZEE
classified as held for sale WiEEEE - - 123,825
37,085 35164 170,709
Net current assets/ (liabilities) RBEE/(AfE)FH 41,518 (4,582) 216,470
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERABARG 1,073,657 961,067 216,515
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & & B %Ak R &

AT 30 JUNE 2011 R=F——FXA=1H

2011 2010 2009
—B——F ZE-TF ZTTIF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
ik FHERT FET FET
(restated)
(E31)
Non-current liabilities FERBESE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEREEE 31 263 263 -
Borrowings BE 32 - 87.205 -
Convertible bonds AR ES 33 110,824 252,672 303,244
111,087 340,140 303,244
NET ASSETS/ (LIABILITIES) & (86 58 962,570 620,927  (86,729)
Capital and reserves BARHE
Share capital &N 34 213,700 33,837 17,628
Reserves B 35 746,413 569,452  (119,412)
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AEMLER
of the Company 960,113 603,289  (101,784)
Non-controlling interests FEEZRES 2,457 17,638 15,055
TOTAL EQUITY gL 962,570 620,927 (86,729)

Approved by the Board of Directors on 23 September R-E——FhAZ-t+=BEE=EZ=ZHtE
2011

Director Director
ZFE ZF

BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY GREEmZE%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

HE-—F——FENA=1HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTAREAERE
Foreign
Converfible curency Share Non-
Share Share bonds fronslafion Capital opfion  Accumulofed  Disconfinued controling Tofal
capital premium feserve feserve feserve feserve osses operations Total inferests equity
e BOER TRRREEE  MAERE ErlE BRERE Zitha BRLER &t FERES Eis
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tin Tin T T ThEn ThEn Thn T T T Thn
(nofe 35(c)(i)) (note 35(c)(ii)) (note 35(c)(v))  (note 36(c)(il)) (note 35(c)(v))
(REE35(C)()  (WaEss(e)iy)  (HEBE)W)  (HEBE)) (M) (W)
AR July 2009 RZEFAELA-B 17,628 96,722 10712 4,09 15,826 (266,752) 19,990 (101,784) 16,085 (86.729)
Redempfion of BETRRESHE
convertible bonds
reserve (107112) 10712
Acquisiion of hE-EKELE
a subsidiory (H&31(0)
(n0fe 37(0) - - - 200 20
Issue of convertible  BTERES
bonds 356,280 - - - 366,280 366,280
Shores issued on RRREETEMETRS
exercise of options 167 1,757 - - - 1,944 1,944
Placing of shares EERH 1,600 37,400 - 39,000 - 39,000
Subscripfion of shores  2BH R 1222 37428 38,650 38,650
Isueofshareson  ETRREFETE
exercise of mEGRH
converfible bonds 13,200 24919 (138,321) 159,798 159,798
Total comprenensive  AFERENEAE
income for the yeor 340 - - 129,051 (19.990) 109,401 181 109,582
Chonges in equity for - AEEEEEE (E5))
the year (festated) 16,209 361,504 207,247 340 139,763 (19.990) 705,073 2,583 707,656
At30June 010and  W=F-3ERAZTAR
1July 2010 (restoted)  =Z-2F+A-A (&) 33,837 458,226 217959 4,430 15,826 (126989) 603,289 17,638 620927
Placing of shares EERH 36,357 10,786 47143 4743
lsueofshareson  EARREFEME
exercise of mEfRH
convertible bonds 19,373 27909 (134129) - - - 164,334 164,334
Sharebased payments WRBERHE 25 - - - - 1847 - 1847 1847
Issue of ights shares BT RRERH 124133 118,887 - - - 23,020 23,020
Disposal of subsidiaries &M A
(note 37(c)) (3127 (150%) (1509)
Total comprehensive ~ AEE2HUHES
income for the yeor - - “n) 95347) 99520 ® ©9.600)
Chonges nequity ~ AFEERED
for the year 179,863 408,763 (134129) (A173) 1847 (95.,347) 356,824 (15.181) 341,643
At 30 June 2011 R-F--EXA=1H 213,700 866,989 83,830 21 15,826 1847 (222.336) - 960,113 2457 962,570
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2.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #SEHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 #Z=—F——FXA=1HILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
Note HK$°000 HK$ 000
FisE FAERT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KREXEBRZRERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT (B518) 5F
Continuing operations BEREER (95.438) (61,893)
Discontinued operations BRIEER - 208,725
(95.438) 146,832
Adjustments for: ERTIEEELFE:
Interest expenses FERX 61,521 24,969
Gain on termination of profit #& BRI E o B
sharing right on oil field Al E - (11,031)
Interest income FE WA m (525)
Gain on disposal of jointly HEHBZHER
controlled entities Z W 37(a) - (197,707)
Depreciation e 539 42
Amortisation of prepaid land FE LA E TR IE R
lease payments 707 -
Share of loss of a jointly EiE—EAREHEE
controlled entity ZEEB 23 18 -
Written-off of property, plant and MEEME - REREE
equipment 27 -
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEKERE
plant and equipment Al & 3) -
Loss on disposal of financial HERAFELES
assets at fair value through ARZeREREZ
profit or loss [ 5Ei] 2,070 -
Loss on fair value change in RATFELERARZ
financial assets at fair value eREEZATFEEDY
through profit or loss 2] 1,074 -
Share-based payments DR B B 2 A K 1,847 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz WE 37(c) (20,738) -
Operating loss before working EEELEHAIZ
capital changes REFE (48,377) (37,420)
Increase in inventories FEEM 61 -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and  FEUR BR 5% &2 HL fth FE U 58
other receivables and AR FEAF FRIE
prepayments (&) EmD (15,511) 2,719
Changes in properties held BIESENE2EH
for sales 3,866 -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B BRFX R H L FEA FE
other payables and accrued IR FESTRE
liabilities 8,/ GAd) 4,580 (6,047)
Cash used in operations REFMARS (55.503) (40,748)
Income taxes refunded/ (paid) 2REE () BB 10 (17.755)
Interest paid [ERREiI=N (240) -
Net cash used in operating activities &% ¥ FT AR € F5E (55.733) (58,503)
BEBEWEBERERAT al Report 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #SEHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 B Z—F——FAXA=1HILFE

2011 2010
—g——% —z-TF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt FER FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEBZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — BB A E 37(b) - (84,982)
Proceeds from disposal of jointly HEHRZEHERZ
controlled entities FRi8FIE 37(a) - 403,205
Disposal of jointly controlled entities H& £ ) e 37(a) - (39.297)
Interest received 2UWFIE 1 525
Compensation on fermination of & 1EAARNESEEZ
profit sharing right on oil field e - 45,270
Purchases of property, plant and  BEYE - BERRE
equipment (802) (690)
Purchases of properties under BEBRRDYE
development (16,591) (1.988)
Purchases of financial assets at fair BEZAFELETR
value through profit or loss ARz EREE (34,238) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZR QA FELER
assets at fair value through AEZEREEZ
profit or loss P8R8 23,375 -
Payments for prepaid lease T HBENREHE
payments (2,007) -
Proceeds from disposal of plant ﬁ’iﬁ‘ﬁ%&n{ﬂ%z
and equipment PR 9 -
Acquisition of a jointly controlled Wi — Fﬁ ﬂ? HlEEE
entity (65,000) -
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEMB AR Z 37(c)
subsidiaries RERMEFRE (1.226) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from ®RE%£% (FrA) g
investing activities ZHEEFE (96.479) 322,043
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXKZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Net raising of borrowings SREEFHE 7,292 2,000
Repayment of convertible loans BETRRES - (323,612)
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (7.292) (2.000)
Settlement of promissory note HEBRENR (126,000) (15,000)
Proceeds from issue of shares iR g TEmaET
under exercise of share options R 2 T8 FkIE - 1,944
Placing of shares W=7 48,213 40,000
Proceeds from issue of right shares E{THIRIRH 2 FREFHE 248,266 -
Payments for share issues expenses X {FIRH TR (6.316) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) BE XS~ (FTH)
financing activities BT 164,163 (296,668)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReERERHALER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #in, GRd) FE8 11,951 (33,128)
Effect of foreign exchange rate SEERGH 2HE
changes 95 1,208
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUNREREFESLER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 8,930 40,850
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRERESER
AT END OF YEAR 20,976 8,930
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND REeERERBASERE S
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances IRITRREETT 29 20,976 8,930
Annual Report 2011 EREDEEZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 #& ¥R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

50

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The address of its principal place of business is
Unit B, 20th floor, Times Media Centre, 133 Wan Chai
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Growth Enferprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”).

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 21
October 2010, the name of the Company was
changed from “Aptus Holdings Limited” to "Hong
Kong Life Group Holdings Limited” and the change
of Chinese name from "BIEZERERAT" to "EBEM
SEERERQAE".

The Company is an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 22 to the financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE
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The Judicial Review

On 22 October 2010, the Planning Department of the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region issued notices under Section 23(1) of the
Town Planning Ordinance to six subsidiaries of
the Company (the "Six Subsidiaries”) alleged that
there is unauthorised development by way of
columbarium use and/or storage use on certain
leasehold land (the "Land”) owned by the Six
Subsidiaries (the "Notices”). These Noftices required
that the alleged unauthorised development be
discontinued by 22 April 2011.

On 21 January 2011, the Six Subsidiaries of the
Company applied to court (the “Applicants”) for
leave to apply for judicial review against the Nofices.
On 31 January 2011 the High Court of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region has granted
leave to the Applicants to apply for judicial review
(the "Judicial Review") against the Notices.

On 14 February 2011, Originating Summons was
taken out in which the Applicants sought the
following relief, inter alia that:

(a) an order of certiorari to bring up and quash
the decision of the Director of Planning (the
"Respondent”) to issue the enforcement notices
under Section 23(1) of the Town Planning
Ordinance ("TPO"), against the Applicants
dated 22 October 2010;

(b) A declaration that there is no unauthorised
development by way of columbarium use and/
or storage use or howsoever at all on the Land
or any part thereof;

(c) A declaration that the Applicants” use of the
Land falls within the permitted “shrine” use
under the Ngau Tam Mei Outline Zoning Plan;

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS 2. BEKTERE
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GOING CONCERN BASIS - continued

The Judicial Review - confinued

(d) A direction under the Rules of the High Courf,
that the grant of the leave shall operate as a
stay of the enforcement proceedings under
Section 23 of the TPO until the deftermination of
the Judicial Review or until the Court otherwise
orders.

On 26 July 2011, the Judicial Review has been heard
at the High Court. After hearing the submission from
both the Applicants and the Respondent, the Judge
reserved his judgment to a date to be announced.
As of the date of this report, the Judge has not yet
given his judgment.

During the acquisition of Casdon Management
Limited ("Casdon”) (collectively the “Acquisition
A”) and the acquisition of investment in jointly
controlled entity (the "JV Acquisition”), there was
a put option granted by the vendor and the
guarantors of the Acquisition A (the "Vendor A"),
and another put option granted by the vendor of JV
Acquisition (*Vendor B") to the Group (collectively
the "Put Options”). Pursuant to the Put Options,
the Group shall be entitled to exercise the Put
Options in the period of 24 months from the date of
completion of the acquisitions upon the occurrence
of certain events as stipulated in the agreements
(the "Trigger Events”). According to the sales and
purchase agreements of the Acquisition A and the
JV Acquisition, the unfavourable outcome of the
Juridical Review is one of the Trigger Events which
the Group can exercise the Put Options.

EELEwEEZRERAR
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2. GOING CONCERN BASIS - continued 2. BEKCERE-E

Annual Report 2011
—E -5 F R

In the opinion of Directors, should the outcome/
judgment of the Judicial Review turn out to be
unfavourable fo the Group, the Group would exercise
the Put Options immediately. Upon the exercise of
the Put Options, the Group would put to the Vendor
A, as at 30 June 2011, assets and liabilities of the
segment of provision of shrine for memorial ancestor
amounted to approximately HK$1,000,718,000
and HK$37,040,000 respectively, to demand for (i)
cancellation of convertible bonds of approximately
HK$110,824,000 and HK$83,830,000, the amortised
cost of principal amount of HK$200,000,000
convertible bonds outstanding at 30 June 2011,
included in fthe current liabilities and equity
respectively; (ii) repayment of the settled promissory
notes with principal amount of HK$150,000,000 and
the converted convertible bonds with principal
amount of HK$650,000,000 up fo 30 June 20171; and
(i) HK$85,000,000 in cash. Accordingly, a receivable
due from Vendor A amounts to HK$1,085,000,000,
which was equivalent to the consideration of the
Acquisition A would be recognised. In respect of
the JV acquisition, the investment cost amounted fo
HK$65,000,000 would be put back to Vendor B and
a corresponding receivable would be recognised
at the same time. The Directors do not consider
that there would be significant impact to the
consolidated income statement upon the exercise of
these Put Options.

In the opinion of the Directors, should the Put
Options were exercised and the receivables from
Vendor A and Vendor B were doubtful, the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, these financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.
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GOING CONCERN BASIS - continued 2. ##@EERE—§F

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going HAREBAREEHEFTERSL  BBERE
concern, adjustments would have fo be made to EAFRARE UHARBRKAEECEEEBER
the financial statements to adjust the value of the EHECAWESE B A TEES
Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, fo CHINGERE YEIERHEERE
provide for any further liabilities which might arise BRI EF T EERHEEREE -
and tfo reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as

current assets and liabilities, respectively.

RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENTS 3. EBWET

During the preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2011, the Group has made several prior year
adjustments ("Prior Year Adjustments”) in its
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2010. The Prior Year Adjustments mainly
included adjustments to the accounting freatments
of an acquisition completed by the Group in relation
to the Acquisition A.

(i) During the course of the Acquisition A, the
Group determined the fair value of the prepaid
lease payments owned by Casdon as at 27
May 2010 based on the consideration paid by
Casdon in acquiring 11 companies holding
the pieces of land (the "Land Companies”),
together with the original acquisition costs
of the land incurred by individual Land
Companies.

Subsequent to the date of the financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2010,
the Directors had obtained a valuation
report issued by an independent surveyor
regarding the fair values of the idenftifiable
assets and liabilities of Casdon as at 27 May
2010. As mentioned in this valuation report,
the fair value of the prepaid lease payments
should be HK$25,465,000 at 27 May 2010.
Accordingly, the Directors considered the fair
value of the prepaid lease payments at the
datfe of the Acquisition A was overstated and
the corresponding goodwill arised from the
Acquisition A was understated.

BEREDEEERARAF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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3. RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENTS - 3. EMEY-B
continued
(i) The Group issued convertible bonds as part (i) AEBBITUBRRES AT WE

of the considerations of the Acquisition A. The
Group first determined the fair value of the liability
component, and the equity component was
assigned the residual amount after deducting
the fair value of the liability component from the
principal amount of the convertible bonds.

In accordance with HKFRS 3 Business Combination,
the consideration fransferred in a business
combination shall be measured at fair value.

FHPAZHHRKE-FAEEELE
EEEBNZLOFE  REETE
REZASETNREEBH 22
FEE  BHREIREREIND -

RETBYBRMELRNFEIRIEE
O R—EXBSHPEB 2K
BRABRANVEFE FAEEBRE

MEBRE B2RWBEERZA
Bz A FEEEZBDENRE -

The Group has discovered the above errors and
accordingly remeasured the equity component
aft fair value at the date of Acquisition A.

LFERABHYAEER-Z-FF
ARBZTBZGEHBERRERN
a/IMT -

The effects of the Prior Year Adjustments on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2010 are summarised as follows :
Consolidated statement of financial position FEMBRRE
As at 30 June 2010
R-ZE—ZFXA=TH
As previously

reported As restated
AT 2R rE5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Goodwill e 904,550 939,415
Prepaid lease payments FENEERIE 139,984 25,465
Current assets MENEE
Prepaid lease payments FENEERIE 3,888 -
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEEE - (263)
Reserves &
Share premium R4 ERE (490,107) (458,226)
Convertible bonds reserve  AlERES#1E (269,883) (217,959)
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RETROSPECTIVE RESTATEMENTS -

continued
The Directors also reclassified the current portion

of prepaid lease payments to non-current portion
in which the directors considered would be a more
appropriate presentation.

(ii) Included in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity for the year ended
30 June 2010 was exchange differences
related to disposed subsidiaries amounted
to approximately HK$19,990,000. This
amount was reclassified to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 30 June 2010. The effect on
the other comprehensive income and total
comprehensive income are as follows:

M HRME

EWEI-&

EESTCEBRNEHEREZRB AN E
HOBBERDBD MEZAR/LR
EREZZ25FR -

(i) BE-B-TEXA=TAHLHF
Ez@nekagakd BEF
BAEENBARZELRZEY
19,990,000 7t ° L KBE EH 5
HEHZE_Z-ZFA~A=THL
FEZGREZEKER HHEMS
HEREE2HEHRRBE2ZENT

For the year ended 30 June 2010
BE-Z-ZHXA=ZTHLEE
As previously

reported As restated
AT 2 ]| BE|
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FERT
Other comprehensive Hitp 2w
income 486 (19.504)
Total comprehensive 2HEINEEEE
income 129,572 109,582
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1
July 2010. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRS”); Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations.
The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did noft result in significant changes to the Group's
accounting policies, presentation of the Group'’s
financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of
the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a
position fo state whether these new HKFRSs would
have a material impact on its results of operations
and financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which are carried at their fair

values.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the
directors fo exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgment and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant fo these financial
statements, are disclosed in nofe 6 to the financial
statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these financial statements are set out
below.

5.

Bt BE

WEGBBRDRESBSHMASE
2B BHBERELENN - BELR
FAUREBBERZMERDAAS
WREHLTRUREBD KB
ZWBERTERH -

HEFBERRDREELRAERER
BHoOURBEQAFEINRZELFELE
BARZERMEENEMMF LB -

FRENSERBUBRELEN 2B HEE
FERAETEEZERRRMAT FEE
EERNERETREBRPFELHE-
BREARAE HBRARBRR MG
LEHBRRMEBERZEE R
BHRMTORRE -

FHUEHBRREEAZEEZSTHK
BHENT X °

EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
58 HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED —E - —FF R




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81 #& ¥R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

B BE -8

FERE

(a) Consolidation (a)

Annual Report 2011
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The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries made up to 30 June. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control.
Control is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from ifs activities. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group has control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the datfe on
which conftrol is transferred to the Group. They
are de-consolidated from the date the control
ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
that results in a loss of control represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that subsidiary and
(i) the Company’s share of the net assetfs of
that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency tfranslation

reserve.

Infragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the fransaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary fo ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
confinued

FRENBR-B

(a) Consolidation - continued (a) #=ERBE-E&

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or
indirectly, fo the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling inferests
are presenfed in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between the non-conftrolling
shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of ofher
comprehensive income are aftributed to
the owners of the Company and fto the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership inferest
in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
fransactions (i.e. transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted fo reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed fo
the owners of the Company.

BEREDEEERARAF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

FRENBR-B

(b) Business combination and goodwill (b)

EBaHREE

Annual Report 2011
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The acquisition method is used fo account
for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a
business combination. The cost of acquisition
is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costfs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which
the costs are incurred and the services are
received. |[dentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Company’'s share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assefs and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Company’'s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisifion is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
aftributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest in the
subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The
fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to
calculate the goodwill.

REBESOHPAIEBIEQTRK
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
confinued

FRENBR-B

(b) Business combination and goodwill - (b) ¥BEHRHE-&

HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

continued

If the changes in the value of the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary were
recognised in other comprehensive income
(for example, available-for-sale investment),
the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on
the same basis as would be required if the
previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment
or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the
same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy (y) below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated
profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment
festing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary
are initially measured at the non-conftrolling
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair
value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities at the acquisition date.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

FRENBR-B

(c) Joint venture (c) BELZHE

Annual Report 2011
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A joint venture is a confractual arrangement
whereby the Group and other parties undertake
an economic activity that is subject to joint
control. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control over the economic activity
when the strategic financial and operating
decisions relating to the activity require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control (the “venturers”).

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that
involves the establishment of a separate entity
in which each venturer has an inferest.

Investment in a jointly confrolled entity is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is inifially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the jointly conftrolled entity in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the jointly conftrolled entity’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill.
The goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and is tested for impairment
together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
confinued

FRENBR-B

64

(c) Joint venture - continued

The Group’s share of a jointly controlled entity’s
post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group'’s share of losses in
a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds ifs
interest in the jointly controlled entity, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligafions or made payments
on behalf of the jointly controlled entity. If the
jointly conftrolled entity subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share
of those profits only after its share of the profits
equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joinfly
controlled entity that results in a loss of joint
control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that jointly controlled entity and (ii) the Group’s
share of the net assets of that jointly confrolled
entity plus any remaining goodwill relating to
that jointly conftrolled entity and any related
accumulated foreign currency franslation

reserve.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued
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Joint venture - continued

Unrealised profits on fransactions between
the Group and its jointly confrolled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the jointly controlled entfities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
tfransaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
jointly controlled entities have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

() Functional and presenfation currency

ltfems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.
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continued

(d) Foreign currency translation - continued (d) EsiaE-4&

(i) Transactions and balances in each entity’s (D) REBRUBHEKZXGRE
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financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
franslated into the functional currency
on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on fthe fransaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are franslated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this
franslation policy are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair values in foreign currencies are
franslated using the exchange rates at the
dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary
item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in profit

or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

(d) Foreign currency translation - continued

(i) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities that have a functional
currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are franslated into
the Company’s presentation currency as

follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses for each
income statement and statement of
comprehensive income are franslated
at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the
fransaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency
tfranslation reserve.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
confinued

(d) Foreign currency translation - continued

O

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment
in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency franslation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
franslated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in
profit or loss during the period in which they are

incurred.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

(e) Property, plant and equipment - continued
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their
cost less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal

annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvement 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 20% - 25%
Office equipment 7% - 25%
Motor vehicles 6% - 14%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Leases

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the
Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of
assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Lease payments (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

C))

W)

M

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs
include acquisition costs, prepaid land lease
payments, construction costs, borrowing costs
capitalised and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds
received after the reporting period less selling
expenses, or by estimates based on prevailing
market condition. On completion, the properties
are reclassified to properties held for sale at the
then carrying amount.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Costs of
properties include acquisition costs, prepaid
land lease payments, consfruction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
costs atfributable to such properties. Net
realisable value is defermined by reference
to sale proceeds received after the reporting
period less selling expenses, or by estimates
based on prevailing market condition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost of paper-offering products is determined
using the first-in, first out basis. Cost of finished
goods comprises the purchase costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
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Inventories - continued

Cost of ofther products is determined using
weighted average basis. Cost of finished goods
comprises raw materials, direct labour and
appropriate portion of all production overhead
expenditure.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assefts and financial liabilities are
recognised in the statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party fo
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the
assets expire; the Group fransfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets; or the Group neither fransfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a
financial assetf, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or

loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued
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Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments - continued

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis where the purchase
or sale of an investment is under a contract
whose ferms require delivery of the investment
within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair
value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs except in the case of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

Investments are classified as either financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss or
available for sale financial assefts.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are either investments classified as held for
frading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss upon iniftial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in
fair value of these investments are recognised
in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued
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() Trade and other receivables (N
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Trade and other receivables are non-derivative
financial assefs with fixed or defterminable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market and are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for impairment. An allowance for
impairment of frade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence
that the Group will not be able fo collect all
amounts due according fo the original terms of
receivables. The amount of the allowance is the
difference between the receivables’ carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition. The
amount of the allowance is recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent
periods and recognised in profit or loss when
an increase in the receivables’ recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to the restriction that the carrying
amount of the receivables at the datfe the
impairment is reversed shall not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

e W BR TR K H At FE Wk kIR T I I AE
ERTSREMAGEERTERE
REZETEEREE AFED
FEBER  ARAURAERFERE
LA S R A BB E BB E - B
RRREMERRRERERBLE
EEBNSBERAREERRER
RE 2z BB GRRWE A 2 REE
HeoBESEAEKFIAREESE
R ERRERBRE (BINRER
BeEBRANRPERAE) B8 -
ZBREESENEEER -

HEBEDEREFBETRE S
ZIBMAEE L EN RN ER R
E2ENERE REZHBED
YWEBSRI - HEERRERED
BEAHZREETSEB WL E
BRBER ZEERA -

ERENEEEZERARD S
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

/3



74

-
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

m

©

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contfractual arrangements entered info and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an uncondifional right to
defer settlement of the liability for af least 12
months affer the reporting period.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued
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(p) Convertible bonds (p) TIRIRESH
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Convertible bonds issued by the Company
that contain liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into
respective terms on initial recognition.
Conversion option fthat will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number
of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument. At the date
of issue, the liability is measured at fair value.
The difference between the gross proceeds of
the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability, representing the
conversion optfion for the holder tfo convert the
convertible bonds into equity, is included in
equity (convertible bonds reserve.)

In subsequent periods, the liability component
of the convertible bonds is carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The equity component, representing the
option to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible bonds reserve until the conversion
option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share premium). Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible bonds reserve
will be released to the retained profits. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

FRENBR-&

(p) Convertible bonds - continued (p) TIRIRES &

76

HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Transaction costs that relate fo the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating tfo the equity component
are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating fo the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

If the convertfible bond is converted, the
convertible bonds reserve, fogether with the
carrying amount of the liability component at
the fime of conversion, is fransferred to share
capital and share premium as consideration
for the shares issued. If the convertible bond
is redeemed, the convertible bonds reserve is
released directly to retained profits.

When the convertible bond is extinguished
before maturity through an early redemption
or repurchase where the original conversion
privileges are unchanged, the consideration
paid and any fransaction costs for the
redemption or repurchase are allocated to the
liability component and equity component
using the same allocation basis as when the
convertible bond was originally issued. Once
the allocation of consideration and transaction
costs is made, any resulting gain or loss relating
tfo the liability component is recognised in
profit or loss and the amount of consideration
relating fo equity component is recognised in
equity.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

(a) Trade and other payables
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Trade and other payables are stated initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded atf the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and
is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably.

Interest income is recognised on a fime-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Revenue from transfer of contractual exclusive
usage right of shrine for memorial of ancestor
is recognised when the contractual exclusive
usage right has passed to customers.

Revenues from the sales of goods are
recognised on the fransfer of significant risks
and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered and the ftitfle has passed fo the
customers.

Gas transportation revenue and gas connection
fee income are recognised when corresponding
services are performed.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5. xEEHHE-&

continued
() Employee benefits () EEEH
() Employee leave entitlements () EERAEF

Employee entitlements to annual leave
and long service payments are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service
payments as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the
reporfing period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and

BETEAZFBERBRE
NRZERNDIRZEBRA R
FRERER FESTER
EMRBBEREEFBRER
HRBENREFEAREZERE
fEH B o

BETEE 2 HBRERRBK

maternity leave are not recognised until BT FLUUHER -
the fime of leave.
(i) Pension obligations (i) BUHETEF
The Group contributes to defined rEBHRFERAEEMBEZE

(i)

conftribution retirement schemes which are
available to all employees. Contributions to

BHIRAKTEER - AKH
K& @ at BIEH 2 HRIIR

the schemes by the Group and employees BEEEAFS 2EH D L
are calculated as a percentage of B oREZNBRZBKERNF
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement ERAEAEEENSTFERE
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or 2R

loss represents contributions payable by
the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when,
and only when, the Group demonstrably
commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

EREDEEERARAF
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

(u) Share-based payments

)

Annual Report 2011
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The Group issues equity-settled and cash-
seftled share-based payments to certain
employees. Equity-seftled share-based
payments are measured at fair value (excluding
the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the
date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of non market-based
vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assefts,
until such fime as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

5.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

™

)

Borrowing costs - continued

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obfaining a
qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation
rate is the weighted average of the borrowing
costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outfstanding during the period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current
fax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit recognised in profit or loss because it
excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

EELEREEZRERAR
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

FRENBR-&

(w) Taxation - continued

(w) BE-8
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—E -5 F R

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred fax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
femporary differences and deferred fax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible tfemporary differences, unused
fax losses or unused tax credits can be ufilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
tfemporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to conftrol the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

B BR-&

(w) Taxation - continued

(w) BIE-4&

™

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is seftled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred
fax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assefs and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income faxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to seftle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A party is related to the Group if:
(i) directly or indirectly through one or more

infermediaries, the party conftrols, is
controlled by, or is under common control

(x)

REBBDRERBEHRACE
THERBET2HE  REHEE
%EﬁjﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁLﬁZﬁT
AE - EZERBEBDABRER
HHENEM2ERENER 2
BSEENERER ZBE BN
AELERTEEEMEZEKERE
RREEREZAER -

=

EREERESMMREEEERN
HHEaERER YEEFRE
BERE-RBRERBBZAER
FHEAEERRFRELELAEH
MR EEERBEN ELERE
EERGESTEREEE -

FET

THATHWERRAEEBRE

() EEgBESEE-—ExRZER

NTARHAER  RAEEE
FIREAREEZ B HE 2 25

with, the Group; has an interest in the REAEEHEEEZEM TH A
Group that gives it significant influence EEEBUAERFESN  HEAK
over the Group; or has joint control over SEEHEEHREES

the Group;

(i) the party is an associate;

(iiiy the party is a joint venture;

(iv) the party is a member of the key

(i ZAARBEDLR;
(i) ZAREERSE;

(V) ZADARARAGLT 2E

management personnel of the Company EEEBAE
or its parent;
EREGEEZRERAR al Report 2011
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
contfinued

€9

)
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Related parties - continued

(v) the party is a close member of the family
of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or
indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv)
or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of the
Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its fangible and
intangible assets except goodwill to determine
whether there is any indication that those
assefs have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
fax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asseft.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
confinued

)

Impairment of assets - continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than ifs
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or cash-generating unit is reduced fo
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is

freated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
or cash-generating unit is increased fo the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is freated as a revaluation

increase.

EELEREEZRERAR
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
contfinued

B BR-&

BERSARER

(z) Provisions and contingent liabilities (2)

Annual Report 2011
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Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain fiming or amount when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable

ErAEBERBAIEHEREREZ
EEREEEL METEE T4
BYEENERE  BREUSEMGEE
EReEZER EHTAHEERRE

that an outflow of economic benefits will be RNEFCEERIAB B MEEE
required to settle the obligation and a reliable Fsﬁ BEEAR BIBESERARAR
estimate can be made. Where the time value of BREZEEzZHZRENRE-

money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to
seftle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow is remote.

(aa)Events after the reporting period

Events affer the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group's
position at the end of the reporting period
or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the financial
statements. Events affer the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when
material.

(aa)
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 5,
confinued

FREHNBR-&

(bb) Discontinued operations

(bb) E#IEZF

A discontinued operatfion is a component of
the Group, the operatfions and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest
of the Group and which represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated
plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or
is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view
fo resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It
also occurs when the operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented in the statement

of comprehensive income, which comprises:

- The post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

- The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs fo sell,
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal
group constitfuting the discontinued
operation.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY 6. FASHAEHREEMST
ESTIMATES
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies 2 FE P S 5T B SR B 22 R £ 30 i
In the process of applying the accounting policies, REASHTHREBRED EEC/FEHU
the directors have made the following judgments THRVBRHRERBAZCSHEBRBASTE
that have the most significant effect on the amounts ZHE CHRAESTERIN  FR T

recognised in the financial statements apart from
those involving estimations, which are dealt with

below.

(a) Going concern basis (a) FIEEEEE
These financial statements have been prepared HEMBRRDBEBFESEEE
on a going concern basis, the validity of which RE HERMBARESHASE
depends on the Directors opinion on the BRI EMERM T2 2B R P
Group'’s ability of continue as a going concern BREZEEIANER -

in the situation as mentioned in note 2 to the
financial statement.

Annual Report 2011 ERENEEEZERARLD S
R - FR HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED 87




-
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 #& ¥R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANF=+HIFE

6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 6. FASEFIERR EEfct—4&
ESTIMATES - continued
Key sources of estimation uncertainty T AR EZEERE
The key assumptions concerning the future, and ERBAEREFRRKGHRFE2EEE
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the EEZREABEHREAFARZEEAARR
end of the reporting period, that have a significant ZEERFZ O UARRIREHRMEE T
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying BREEMFERFEYHR T H o

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (a) PE BERRELURFE

The Group determines the estimated useful TEBAEYE BRERBEETE
lives, residual values and related depreciation EEtAERFES FerEERER
charges for the Group’s property, plant and WEXH - EFTURALUMEER Y
equipment. This estimate is based on the ENYME BERRENERITE
historical experience of the actual useful lives AEHRRAGEENBERRRE
and residual values of property, plant and oA FEAFEHRREEESH
equipment of similar nature and functions. The REFFMEETE  BIREBEFEET
Group will revise the depreciation charge where B X o B8 o OB B i £ BR
useful lives and residual values are different to EQCEERCHENERBEHESE
those previously estimated, or it will write-off or Eo

write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES - continued

P HRME
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Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 5(y)
above. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates about future
cash flows and discount rates. In the process
of estimating expected future cash flows,
management makes assumptions about future
revenues and profits. These assumptions relate
fo future events and circumstances. The actual
results may vary and may cause a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill
within the next financial year. Determining the
appropriate discount rate involves estimating
the appropriate adjustment for market risk
and for asset specific risk factors. Details of
the estimates of the recoverable amounts of
cash generating units containing goodwill are
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad
and doubftful debts based on assessments
of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history
of each debtor. Impairment arises where
events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible.
The identification of bad and doubftful debts
requires the use of judgment and estimaftes.
Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of the frade and otfher
receivables and bad and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate
has been changed.

(b)

(c)
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign currency risk, price risk, credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of ifs business
fransactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
functional currency of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
fransactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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7.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT -
continued

(b) Price risk

The Group’'s financial assetfs at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Therefore,
the Group is exposed to equity security price
risk. The Directors manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
difference risk profiles.

The consolidated loss after tax for the year
would increase/decrease as a result of gains/
losses on equity securities classified as at fair
value through profit or loss.

At 30 June 2011, if the share prices of the
investments increase/decrease by 10%,
loss after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$772,000 (2010: Nil) lower/
higher, arising as a result of the fair value gain/
loss of the investments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - 7. BUBEGEERE-&
continued
(c) Credit risk (c) EERE

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
fo a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the ferms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the
Group.

The carrying amount of the bank and cash
balances, trade and other receivables and
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, included in the statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s
financial assets.

The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk.

The Group has policies in place to ensure
that sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is
limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is limited because the
counterparty is a well-established securities
broker firm in Hong Kong.

EREDEEERARAF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - 7. UBEISEERE-&
continued
(d) Liquidity risk (d) RENEEEIE
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be RBEcRBAREE S REME
able to meet its obligations associated with its HEHESHEERBEZEE -

financial liabilities.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current AEBBRERREHERBAIRTE
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure HeRBELER BRERER
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to EESREE UWEMAERESHURK
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and BREZRBESER -

longer ferm.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial rEEEREBEZINHINAT :

liabilities is as follows:

Total

Less than Between Between Over  undiscounted
Tyear 1and2years 2and 5 years 5years  cash outflow
AERRE

-n -FERF  REERLF BRnE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Thn Thn Thn Thn Tén
At 30 June 2011 RIE--£XA=1H
Trade and other payables and B BERREMENFIE
accrued liabilities IREHEE 37,085 - - - 37,085
Convertible bonds TERES - - 200,000 - 200,000
37,085 - 200,000 - 237,085
At 30 June 2010 RIE-E£XA=1H
Borrowings &8 - - 126,000 - 126,000
Trade and other payables and ~ BRERREMERTE
accrued liabilifies IREEE 15,164 20,000 - - 35,164
Convertible bonds TRRES - - - 520,000 520,000
15,164 20,000 126,000 520,000 681,164
Annual Report 2011 BEREDEEERERAT
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - 7. HBERBEE-&
continued
(e) Interest rate risk (e) FIZEMME
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing HRAEETESEARZTEEER
assefs and liabilities, the Group’s operating EE AEEZEEHSREER
cash flows are substantially independent of FTRET SRS E -

changes in market interest rates.

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 30 June () R-ZF——ERA=Z+HZEMT
2011 1=K
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Financial assets: SREE
Financial assets at fair value R AFELEZARZ
through profit or loss TRERE 7.719 -
Loans and receivables BRREWRFIE
(including cash and (BREREERER
cash equivalents) ReLER) 42,208 14,682
Financial liabilities: s@mas:
Financial liabilities REHERARTIERZ
at amortised cost Smas 147,909 375,041
EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
94 HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED - —FF R




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 #& ¥ R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT -

7. BMBEREE-&

continued
(9) Fair values (9) AFE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial GEVBRARAITEAEA S

assetfs and financial liabilities as reflected in the MEERSREBECREEHEAESR

consolidated statement of financial position BERAFEEE -

approximate their respective fair values.

The following disclosures of fair value UTREAFEFESIA=ZEAF

measurements use a fair value hierarchy which BEEHZKE

has 3 levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F1E: HEEEREGEZIZE®
markets for identical assets or liabilities. SE CRERE) -

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices BB F-—BREEZIHRMEN
included within Level 1 that are N BEEREEEE (B
observable for the asset or liability, B B (REEE
either directly (i.e. as prices) or H)BRSH @ A A8E -
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are $F3E: WIFRBEAEEMISEE
not based on observable market data BHZEERBBEHWAH
(unobservable inputs). B (EEERRAHIE) -

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 RZBE——FRNA=Z+HZ2L2AFE

June 2011: BRI E:

Fair value measurement using: Total Total
RANTERZATEHE Az @t
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2011 2010
it F1E Ll 38 “E--f “E-Z%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TR TiER TEn TER TEn
Financiol assets af fair volue BATESBEARL
through profit or logs tREE
- Equity investments -RAIE
Total &3t 7.119 - - 1,119 -

Annual Report 2011
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8. REVENUE 8. Wz

The Group’s revenue which represents revenue AEBzRERREZFLIALSRZE

from transfer of contractual exclusive usage right of HEBERERARENKRZEURAEFHES

96

shrine for memorial ancestor and sales of goods to

customers are as follows:

o REWT

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Revenue from transfer of EREIALSEZENBER
contractual exclusive usage 2 AR S
right of shrine for memorial
ancestor 13,668 -
Sales of goods HEER 103 3,780
13,771 3,780
9. OTHER INCOME 9. Hitsr A
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FERT FiExT
Interest income FE WA 1 525
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipments Bl 6 3 -
Sundry income FEIEW A 169 682
173 1,207
EBEWEBERERAT nual Report 2011
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 EEH

Annual Report 2011
TE -5 FR

The Group has five reportable segments as follows:

Continuing operations

(a) Trading of edible oil and mineral materials

(b) Provision of shrine for memorial ancestor

(c) Paper-offering business

Discontinued operations

(a) Gas related

(b) Profit sharing on oil field

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic
business units that offer different products and services.
They are managed separately because each business
requires different tfechnology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 5 fo the financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include
inferest expenses and income, gain on disposal of
subsidiaries, loss on disposal of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loss on fair value change
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
share of loss of a jointly controlled entity, profit for the
year from discontinued operations and corporate
income and expenses. Segment assets do not include
investment in a jointly controlled entity, deposits
paid for corporate use, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, and bank and cash balances for
corporate use. Segment liabilities do not include other
payables for corporate use, deferred tax liabilities,
borrowings and convertible bonds.

AEBBUATHEEREDE

FEGEER

(o) RERENMHES

(b) BELALEE

(0) MHBEK

ERIEER

(o) MEAEE

(b) HEFEHE

FEBZRABREDERFEMEREN
ERMEBEVRETENERRRS
HREDERFERME T SEHERET
B #WoRERE -

RED B2 S BERER B WK M5
MEHEE HEEETERNEHIR
WA HEMBAR W HEEQF
ERERARZEREEZEE BL
FTERBESZEARZERMEEZATESE
BEE - BhA-BARZHEERZEBER -
CRIEEBZARFERT  UREER
ARBXAX DPBREETEER B
HEZHEBRZ2RE FoXBAREH
ZRE BRATFTELEZE A ARZ2EME
E URGCERBCRTRREEF -2
HEBETEELCEREc HMEARE
EEHEEE BERTRRES
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 10. P EER &

Information about reportable segment revenue, profit BHEERE EkZ  BR BERERE
or loss, assets and liabilities: Z2EHR
Continuing operations
BELLER
Provision
Trading of of shrine
edible oil for Paper-
and mineral memorial offering
materials ancestor business Total
RAR
B REEA Eix 4
g% 228 £% @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER
Year ended 30 June 2011 HECZ--E/A=THIEE
Revenue fom external customers H0EFNE - 13,608 103 13,77
Segment loss PEER (196) (26,085) (221) (26,502)
Depreciation and amortisation HERES - 1,246 - 1,246
Additions fo segment non-current assets RESEFRBEE - 802 - 802
As af 30 June 2011 RZE--FRB=1A
Segment assefs PREE 1223 1,000,718 548 1,002,489
Segment liobilfies E L @ (37,040) (18) (37,085)

EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 10. P EER &

Information about reportable segment revenue, profit EHRERE Y EkWE  ER BERESR
or loss, assets and liabilities - confinued Z2ER  —&
Continuing operations
FELEER
Provision
Trading of of shrine
edible oil for Paper-
and mineral memorial offering
materials of ancestor business Tofal
£3:)4
YIRS BEEA B%m
g5 223 % st
HKS’ 000 HKS' 000 HKS" 000 HKS' 000
ThR TER TR TR
Year ended 30 June 2010 HE-Z-ZERACTHLEE
Revenue fom external customers H0EFNE 3,780 - - 3,780
Segment loss AEER (63) (6,917 (45) (6,025)
Depreciation and amorfisation TEREY - 2 - 2
Additions fo segment non-current assets FENEFRDEE - 690 - 690
As of 30 June 2010 RZE-ZERAZTA
Segment assefs PREE 1,266 988,288 414 989,968
Segment liabilfies AEEf () (31,090) 6) (31.141)
Annual Report 2011 BEBEDEBERERAT
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 10. P EER &

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit ARELERNE B BERABEGE2Y
or loss, assets and liabilities - continued: BE: —4&
2011 2010
—E-—fF —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Profit or loss B
Total loss of reportable segments B2 $EE 184858 (26,502) (6.025)
Interest income FEUWA 1 525
Interest expenses FERE (61,521) (24,969)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB LAzl 20,738 -
Loss on disposal of financial assets HEZRAFELEZARZ
at fair value through profit or loss ~ &MEEZEE (2.070) -
Loss on fair value change of BRAFELEBEZARE
financial assets at fair value ZERMERE
through profit or loss ZAFEZEES (1,074) -
Share of loss of a jointly contfrolled FE{E—RIHLEHE4IEEE > B
entity (8) -
Profit for the year from EBRIEEB 2 RFERF
discontinued operations - 190,979
Corporate income BEWA 172 682
Corporate expenses A% (25.164) (32,106)
Consolidated (loss)/profit rEEzHE (BB), &F
for the year (95.438) 129,086
(restated)
(E350)
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments B &2 EEELE 1,002,489 989,968
Investment in a jointly controlled  R—BEHEE4ISEZRE
entity 64,982 -
Deposits, prepayments and other  #2& ~ FBIRER
receivables H b e 5 E 16,000 243
Financial assets at fair value BRAFELER AR
through profit or loss ZeRMEE 7.719 -
Cash and bank balances REeRBITET 19,552 6,020
Consolidated total assets REBEEHRE 1,110,742 996,231
al Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 10. P EER &

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit ARESBEWE BR EBEEREGEZY
or loss, assets and liabilities - continued: BR—4E
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
(restated)
(E5)
Liabilities =L
Total liabilities of reportable AREDEEERLSE
segments 37,085 31,141
Other payables H{th FEAF 5018 - 4,023
Deferred tax liabilities EERBBEE 263 263
Borrowings BE - 87,205
Convertible bonds AR ES 110,824 252,672
Consolidated total liabilities mEaERE 148,172 375,304
Geographical information: WESE :
Revenue Non-current assets
Wz FREBEE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E-—F —E-ZF B-—fF =—ZT-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
(restated)
(E%1)
Hong Kong 5 13,771 - 1,032,139 965,627
South East Asia RED - 3,780 - 22
Consolidated total REMET 13,771 3,780 | 1,032,139 965,649

Annual Report 2011
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued 10. P EER &

In presenting the geographical information, revenue REJHWEERE  WEEREEFA
is based on the locations of the customers. EHEH -
None of the Group’s customers had individually MEAEHEZFENLGAEFEREZ -
accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for —EBER_EBE-——FEXA=THLEE
the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2011. ZWEREEIBI10% o
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. B E
2011 2010
—E——F —Z2-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FiEx
Interest on borrowings BEZFE 190 1.134
Imputed interest on convertible ARRES ZEEFE
bonds 22,486 22,923
Interest on other loans HinERZFE 50 -
Imputed interest on unsecured EEAANEZHEEFE
promissory note 38,795 912
61,521 24,969
EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
1 02 HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED —E-—-FF R




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 #& ¥ R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FiIRHHAX
No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the HRAEEEFRTEREE B ZER
year as the Group did not generate any assessable BEF AEITEELETBRESHEE
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2010: (ZEB—FF  8&) o
Nil).
The reconciliation between the income tax expense Frie®ip L EBRB A (FE) ER 5k
and the product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied BERBANCSHREMEHBECHERAOT ¢

by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax BBiAT (B518) RF
Continuing operations HEREED 95,438 (61,893)
Tax at the domestic income tax RSB ET16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) (ZE—FF 116.5%)
HEZBIE (15.747) (10,212)
Tax effect of income that is not BARBTMAZBREZE
taxable (5.588) -
Tax effect of expenses that are FAI MBI R E
not deductible 10,514 5,918
Tax effect of tax losses not AERFEBB2HEE
recognised 10,821 4,294
Income tax expense FrEBix< - -
Annual Report 2011 BEBEDEBERERAT
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM 13. REWBBECEEBZEEERS
CONTINUING OPERATIONS i
The Group's loss for the year from continuing AEERBFEREEBZAFTERE
operations is stated after charging/(crediting) the RIBR (Gt AN) THESBEETIE :
followings:
2011 2010
S —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Depreciation e 539 42
Directors’ emoluments EEWS
- As directors -E= 1,098 395
- For management - EEE 6,683 1,715
7.781 2,110
Gain on disposal of HEVE  BERRZREzZKE
property, plant and
equipment @A) -
Auditors’ remuneration ZEAREN &
- Current - AREE 450 2,741
- Under-provision in prior year -~ LEEZBERR m (24)
449 2,717
Cost of inventories sold 2EFERAE 6,293 3,763
Operating lease expenses KEBEERX 1,224 234
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKE DRzl E (20,738) -
Loss on disposal of financial HERAFELIBRARZ
assets at fair value through SRIEEZES
profit or loss 2,070 -
Loss on fair value change of BAFEZBRZARZ
financial assets at fair value SRIEEZ
through profit or loss N EEBEER 1,074 -
Staff costs including Directors’ ETIHAR (BEESZHS)
emoluments
- Salaries, bonus and —He - TARIERL
allowances 9,281 3.266
- Equity-settled share-based - REREEURGH
payments LS AN 1,847 -
- Retirement benefits scheme — BRIRERIFHEIER
contributions 126 44
11,254 3,310

EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

P HRME

14. EEREENE

The emoluments of each Director were as follows: BRESBSZHMENT :
For the year ended 30 June 2011 BE-Z——FX~"A=+HLEE
Salaries Contributions
and to retirement
other  Share-based benefit
Fees emoluments payments scheme Total
Fek  ROAER BHRER
he Hitd & PACE HE [:3:8 @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR T#R
Executive Directors HiESs
Lau Chi Kwong (note 1) 5% (MaE) 240 1,559 616 11 2,426
Lam Wai Pong (note 2) WEH (MEE2) 240 1,300 616 11 2,167
Poon Lai Yin Michael (nofe 3)  ERE (Hi&3) 180 1,945 614 1 2,750
ChanTing (note 4) RE (FriEd) 6 - - - 6
Leung Wai Kuen Cerene (note 5) RE g (KE5) 73 - - - 73
Non-executive Director FHTES
Fung King Him Daniel (note 6) &k ([f36) 18 - - - 18
Independent Non-executive BUEHTES
Directors
Li Mei Kuen (note 7) ZXE (MW7) 103 - - - 103
Man Fu Wah (nofe 8) NEE (W) 22 - - - 22
Sit Bun (nofe 9) EHGED) 24 - - - 2
Siu Kwok Chung (nofe 10) BEMR (WE10) 24 - - - 24
So ChiYin (note 11) &8 (K5 62 - - - 62
To Yan Ming Edmond (note 12) #2118 (Kf&12) 16 - - - 16
Yuen Shiu Hang Terry (note 13)  R#A1E (Fi313) 64 - - - 64
Zou Qi Jun (nofe 14) FEMA (W14) 26 - - - 26
1,098 4,804 1,846 33 7,781

Annual Report 2011
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14. EEREENES &
EMOLUMENTS - continued

For the year ended 30 June 2010 HE-_Z-—ZFEXA=1tHIEE

Salaries Contributions
and to refirement
other  Share-based benefit
Fees  emoluments payments scheme Total
HeR URBAER BINER
ik EfiE PACES sTEIf #zt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TERL TERT

Executive Directors HiTES

Lau Chi kwong (note 1) g5k (1) - 80 - - 80
Lam Wai Pong (nofe 2) M (HzE2) - 175 - 6 181
ChanTing (note 4) RE (FriEd) 24 - - 2 26
Fung King Him Daniel (note 6) &k (o) pl 1,440 - 12 1,476
Cheung Kwai Lan (note 15) RHEE (W15 2 - - - 24

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Man Fu Wah (nofe 8) TEE (Wis) - - - - -

To Yan Ming Edmond (note 12)  # 218 (K&12) 47 - - - 47

Zou Qi Jun (note 14) FEA (Wi14) 78 - - - 78

Zhang Xiu Fu (note 16) REX (ME16) 120 - - - 120

Tian He Nian (nofe 17) REE (WE17) 78 - - - 78

395 1,695 - 20 2.110

Note 1:  Mr. Lau Chi Kwong was appointed as an executive MIEEl : BIEXEERZ-ZZ-ZFESA+—
Director on 11 June 2010. BEZEAHTES -

Note 2:  Mr. Lam Wai Pong was appointed as an executive MizE2: MEMBELEER-_ZE—ZF—-AN\H
Director on 8 January 2010. BEZEAPITES -

Note 3:  Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael was appointed as an MeE3: EREBRXENR=-Z-ZF+ A8
executive Director on 21 October 2010 and Z+-HEZERPTES HiE
subsequently re-designated as non-executive R-ZE——FtA+-B#AIEEH
Director on 12 July 2011. HITES -

Note 4:  Mr. Chan Ting resigned as an executive Director on MeF4: BREXER-ZF-ZFEFHLAZ=-+MD
24 September 2010. HEIEHITES -

EEBEDEBREREREART Annual Report 2011
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS - continued

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

Note 8:

Note 9:

Note 10:

Note 11:

Note 12:

Note 13:

Note 14:

Note 15:

Note 16:

Note 17:

Annual Report 2011
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Ms. Leung Wai Kuen Cerene was appointed as an
executive Director on 18 April 2011.

Mr. Fung King Him Daniel was re-designated as
non-executive Director on 21 October 2010 and
resigned on 30 December 2010.

Ms. Li Mei Kuen was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 23 August 2010.

Mr. Man Fu Wah was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 18 June 2010 and
resigned on 23 August 2010.

Mr. Sit Bun was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 18 April 2011.

Mr. Siu Kwok Chung was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 April
2011.

Mr. So Chi Yin was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 October 2010 and
resigned on 18 April 2011.

Mr. To Yan Ming Edmond resigned as an
independent non-executive Director on 26 October
20170.

Mr. Yuen Shiu Hang Terry was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 October
20170 and resigned on 18 April 2011.

Mr. Zou Qi Jun refired as an independent non-
executive Director on 21 October 2010.

Madam Cheung Kwai Lan resigned as an
executive Director on 18 June 2010.

Mr. Zhang Xiu Fu resigned as an independent non-
executive Director on 23 June 2010.

Mr. Tian He Nian resigned as an independent non-

executive Director on 18 June 2010.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14 EERESME - &
EMOLUMENTS - continued
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during REBFEFRNAEESHFALTEE=R (=
the year included 3 (2010: 2) Directors whose Z-TF WMBES BEZHEER
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented X2 iR -BTRE(ZF—
above. The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2010: 3) ZF =ZF)ATZHMEFIINOT :

individuals are set out below:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FERT FET
Basic salaries and allowances HARF & RER 1,266 849
Retirement benefit scheme RIRBRIGT B
conftributions 22 19
1,288 868
The emoluments fell within the following band: MEAanaT :
Number of individuals
N
2011 2010
—E——F —E2-EF
Nil fo HK$1,000,000 Z£%17,000,000/%& 7T 2 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the AEBRFRALELNEANEERESH
Group to any of the Directors or the highest paid ATZRAEMMES EEMBREES
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining RINBEREBER 2 RESIELZBEE -
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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15.

16.

17.

Annual Report 2011
—E -5 F R

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company included a loss of approximately
HK$97,470,000 (2010: profit of HK$131,048,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil). No dividend has
been proposed since the end of the reporting date
(2010: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per
share from continuing and discontinued
operations attributable fo owners of the
Company is based on the (loss)/profit for the
year attributable to owners of the Company:

R ME

15. KASI A AEIGEEREE

16.

17.

ARABERBARBEFABBEREFSE
#97,470,0008 T (=2 —ZFF 1 & Al
131,048,000/ 7T) » 2 R A LD 8 B B ]
RARHE -

Iz 2

BEZZ-—FAAZTHLEFEARL
BREIVBEKRE (ZE2-FF &) -
HERHMRTERRRE (Z2-—2F:
) o

ik (BE) &7

(a) REFBEEEXBREKIEER
GREF (F1E) BF

RABEAAEBERAFEREE
BREKEEXEB2BRER (B1B)
S BATDRBAADEE ARMER
FE(BR)DENEFE HBOT

2011 2010
— —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Loss for the year attributable RABEE AL
to owners of the Company REFESEEK2
from confinuing operations rEERBR (95.347) (61,928)
Add: profit for the year from e REEKLEEKZ
discontinued operations REEER - 190,979
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of AR ERBFELLEK
basic (loss)/earnings per share  REKILEBZERER
from continuing and (&) Bz (BE) 7
discontinued operations (95.347) 129,051

ERENEEZERARLD S
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17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. Big (B518) & F - &
- continued
(a) From continuing and discontinued operations (a) REFEEEEBRECEIEE
- continued —4&
Number of shares KRG EE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
‘000 ‘000
FB® TR
(restated)
(E7)
Weighted average number of ARFEERER (FE),
ordinary shares for the B2 EBRINEFIIH
purpose of basic
(loss)/earnings
per share 60,385 16,249
Basic (loss)/earnings per REBELEERR
share from continuing and BRIEBZBRER
discontinued operations (B518) &R (HK$1.585% 7t) HKS$7.945%& 5T
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share GRBE (FE) BF
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from WEEINHEE-_ZE——FR_F—
continuing and discontinued operations for the BEERA=ZTHLEFEERBEFELR
year ended 30 June 2011 and 2010 have not EEBRCRLIEBSREE (5
been presented, as the outstanding convertible B)/BF REAKRTETRRE
bonds and share options had anti-dilutive SREBREABREEZFE -
effects.
EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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17. (LOSS) /EARNINGS PER SHARE
- continued

17. B (548 BR -8

(b) From continuing operations (b) REFEBEEEER

Basic loss per share FRELEE
KARBEBEARLERBEFEREXE
BzEBREXREBEDREARLD A HE
BAELERBBESEEB AT
EEEFE FHBOT

The calculation of basic loss per share from
confinuing operations aftributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the
year from continuing operations attributable to
owners of the Company:

2011 2010
—E-—F —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTiER FHET
Loss for the year atftributable AAREE ABLERNEEEE
to owners of the Company (95,347) (61,928)
Number of shares idvE 4=
2011 2010
—E——F —E-2F
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
(restated)
(E71)
Weighted average number of ARGTESREREEBZ
ordinary shares for the LB T
purpose of basic loss per share 60,385 16,249
Basic loss per share from REFELSEEK 2
continuing operations BREAERE (HK$1.58) (HK$3.81)
Diluted loss per share TR EEE

Diluted loss per share from continuing
operations for the years ended 30 June 2010
and 2011 have not been presented, as the
outstanding convertible bonds and share
options had anti-dilutive effects.

TEZINBE-Z-FFR_-F
——FRAZ+THLFEREEE
HREXBrBRBEER RAS
RTETRRESREREAAR
wmEoE-

Annual Report 2011
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17. (LOSS) /EARNINGS PER SHARE
- continued

17. B (B548) BR -8

(c) From discontinuing operations

(c) REEHIEET

Basic earnings per share FRRELXEF
Basic earnings per share for the year ended 30 BE-Z-ZF~A=Z+HLEE
June 2010 from discontinued operations was RECRIEEXR2EREREFNS

HK$11.75 per share, based on the profit for the
year ended 30 June 2010 from the discontinued
operations of approximately HK$190,979,000
and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic loss per share
above.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share from discontinued
operations for the year ended 30 June 2010
have not been presented, as the outstanding
convertible bonds had an anti-dilutive effect.

BEREDEEZERARAF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SR.75ET DREABRE=B -
PEAASHALEERESHL
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BEMN REARTETBRRES
EEREEzEE -

Annual Report 2011
ST -F4H




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 81 #& ¥R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 18. EARIEZEF

The combined results and cash flows of the LT At A\GEARFZERGESEHERE
RO R ILER (BB BIBER D

HRARER) cEHEARRERE

disconfinued operations (i.e.: the oilfield sharing
right and the distribution of natural gas business)
included in the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of cash flows are set out
below:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Total Total
st Fob
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Profit for the year from ERIEER 2 REERT
discontinued operations
Revenue Wz - 18,346
Expenses B - (18,359)
Gain on fermination of profit Kb HBRES Bz k&
sharing rights on oil field - 11,031
Gain on disposal of jointly HEHREHER 2B
controlled entities - 197,707
Profit before taxation FRBL AT R T - 208,725
Income tax expenses FrEBIFA - (17.746)
Profit for the year from BRIEER 2 ARFEHEF
discontinued operations - 190,979
Cash flows from discontinued CRLEEBCZRERE
operations
Net cash inflows from operating REXBHERAFE
activities - 4,265
Net cash inflows from investing REEBZEHSRAFE
activities - 408,214
Net cash inflows from financing RIEEB 2 HESRAFE
activities - 2,818
Net cash inflows RERNFEE - 415,297

Annual Report 2011
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. V1% - BERRE

Leasehold  Furniture and Computer Office Motor
improvement fixtures  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
RENERE  BAREE EHRE  BOERE RE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T Thr THR Thr
COosT R
A1 July 2009 RZEENELA-A - 44 210 10 - 264
Acquisifion of a subsidiary K& -BHELT
(note 37(0)) (3237(0)) - - 7 3 - 75
Additions wE 62 10 60 18 540 690
Exchange realignment EifE - - 2 - - 2
A#30 June 2010 ond RZZ2-BERAZTHR
1 July 2010 “E-ZE{A-H 62 54 344 31 540 1,031
Additions HE 580 133 39 80 - 802
Disposal i3 - - ©) - - )
Wit of s - ) (66) @ - )
Disposal of a subsidliary HE-BRELR
(note 37(¢)) (K3137(c)) - @) (179) ®) - (208)
Exchange realignment Eji@E - 1 6 - - 7
At 30 June 2011 RZE--£RA=tA 6012 143 135 101 540 1,531
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ B3ti7E
A1 July 2009 R-EENELA-A - 39 174 6 - 219
Charge for the year EnifE 4 2 2 2 14 42
Exchange realignment EiHZ - 1 - - 1
A#30 June 2010 ond RZ2-2ERAZTHR
1 July 2010 “E2-2ELA-H 4 41 195 8 14 262
Charge for the year EmiE 276 3 47 2 162 539
Disposal HE - - (3) - - @)
Witien of s - (24) (39) @ - (65)
Disposal of a subsidiory HE-BHELR
(note 37(¢)) (K137(0)) - (19) (159) 0 - (185)
Exchange realignment EiS% - 1 5 - - 6
At 30 June 2011 RZB--£xA=tA 280 31 46 2] 176 554
NET BOOK VALUE BEFE
At 30 June 2011 R-E--§xA=1H 332 112 89 80 364 977
At 30 June 2010 RZE-ZERAZTA 58 13 149 23 526 769

BEREDEEERARAF
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20. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

20. EfTHERIE

2011 2010

—E——F —E-TF

Total Total

st Eob

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEx FBT

(restated)

(E350)

At beginning of year REA 25,465 -

Additions = 2,007 -

Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —EME LA

(note 37(b)) (337 (b)) - 25,465
Amortisation of prepaid FENEERE 2 #E

lease payments (707) -

At end of year RELE 26,765 25,465

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent
payments for land use rights situated in Hong Kong

under medium term leases.

Annual Report 2011
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21. GOODWILL 21. &
2011 2010
—E-—fF —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHER FExT
(restated)
(E3)
Cost RS
At beginning of year F4 974,537 35,122
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —EME LA
(note 37(b)) (MfEE37(b)) - 939.415
Accumulated impairment losses  R&FREEE
At end of year Fi5 974,537 974,537
Accumulated impairment losses  RiHBEEE
At beginning and end of year FORFLE 35,122 35,122
Carrying amount fREE
At end of year Fik 939.415 939,415
EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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21. GOODWILL - continued 21. HE-4F

Annual Report 2011
—TE-—EFR

Goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated, at acquisition, fo the operation of
provision of shrine for memorial ancestor, the cash
generating unit ("CGU") that are expected to benefit
from that business combination.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are
determined from value in use calculations. The key
assumptions for the value in use calculations are
those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and turnover during the
period. The Group estimates discount rates using
pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-ferm
average economic growth rate of the geographical
area in which the businesses of the CGUs operate.
Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based
on past practices and expectations on market
development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived
from the most recent financial budgets approved by
the Directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rate of 3%. This rate does not
exceed the average long-ferm growth rate for the
relevant markets.

REBSHPWRB2EHEDREERD
REEHSRZEBEHPZEZRS
EEBEN (REELEN]))  BRMAL
ARZFEILIA o

REeELBU 2T RESEINERE
EMEE -HEERAEEZETEZRR

BEHMACZHRER ERERAEEINR
EEFAR - AEERARBA L R
MR E ZRBALERRRESES
BEuzE¥BBHEERSERRZRE
mSHME - BREDREBERESELEN
EBEEHMETHECRPFEHLELER
RAE - REEFREXBLDERTS
BHERBEEMNREMTEH -

AEEERCRSAREN HEAS
EEEIRREF 4T B0 800
B RAKHEEE - R E = T8
BARTENTHRERESR -

ERENEEZERARLD S
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

117



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 #& ¥R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 30 June 2011 are

22. BASIZEH

RZB-——FXA=ZTHZMBRARF

as follows: BT -
Place of Nominal value
incorporation of issued and Percentage of equify aftributable Principal
Nome and operations paid-up share to the Company activities
£ AMHIREELY BRARERRHEE ANREGRE AL k5
20M 2010
IR--% ZZ-%F
Direct Indirect  Direct  Indirect
B# B ER [
Good United Management Limited*  British Virgin Islandss Ordinary US$1 - - 100% - Investment holding
ABRZEE 1ZnEER REZR
Sea Marvel Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US31 100% - 100% - Investment holding
ABRIEE 1EnEER RERR
Cosmos Will Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
ARRAES 12nEER REBR
Top Entrepreneur Profits Limited Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary US$200 75% - 75% - Investment holding
ZBRAEE WOxTEER REER
B & B Natural Products (BVI) Limited  British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 - 75% - 75%  Investment holding
ABRLEE 1EnEER RERR
Rapid Progress Profits Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$8 - 56.25% - 56.25%  Investment holding
ARRAES SEnEER REBR
Hsing Long Trading Co. Pfe. Lid. Singapore Ordinary - 7031% - 70.31%  Distrbution of natural
ki $GD100,000 supplementary
10,0005 sk 7T & B foods and
mineral materials
AERABRRRR
R
BEBEWEBERERAT ual Report 2011
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BE-—FE——FAXA=THILFE

22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES -

22 BASIZER -8

continued
Place of Nominal value
incorporation of issued and Percentage of equity atfributable Principal

Name and operations paid-up share to the Company activities

£ ARRIREELY BEARARROEE ARAREREZAMM TERH

M 2010
“E--f “T-%f
Direct Indirect ~ Direct  Indirect
% L B [

Power Elite Holdings Limited Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary USS1 100% - - - Investment holding
EBRAEE 1ZTEER REzh

Upfront Success Limifed Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 - 100% - - Investment holding
EBRAKE 1ETEER REZR

True Wonder Investments Limited Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 - 100% - - Investment holding
ABRLEE 1ZnEER REEZR

SuperB Luck Limited Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary USS1 - 100% - - Investment holding
ABRLEE 1ZnEER REZR

Grond Faith Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100% - - Investment holding
B AT EER REzh

Well Best Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100% - - Investment holding
B 1BREER REZkK

Shine Grand Limifed Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100% - - Investment holding
B TBTEER RERR

Cosdon Monagement Limifed Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 - 100% - - Investment holding
ABRLHEE 1£nEBR and development

of shrine
REERRERAZE
CNPC Huayou Cu Energy People’ s Republic Registered capital - - - 70%  Investment holding
Investment Co., Limited* of China (“PRC”) of RMB100,000,000 RERR
ERERRER DEARRAA(PE])  EREFARK
BRERLE 100,000,007

Annual Report 2011
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES - 22. MBASIzEH &

continued

Place of Nominal value

incorporation of issued and Percentage of equity atfributable Principal
Name and operations paid-up share to the Company activities
£8 AMAIREELS ERTRARRAEE ARREEREZAAL ITER

2011 2010
“E--f “T-%%

Direct  Indirect Direct  Indlirect
E# B E# B

Sharp Keen Investments Limited Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EBRAEE 12T EER Razh

Wealth Concept Holdings Limited Brifish Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EBRAKE 1XnEER REZk

The Shrine of Hong Kong Limifed Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100% - - Trading, refailing

BANLERAA £ 1EREER and wholesaling

g5 TERME

The Shrine Management Services Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100% - - Provision of
Limited B 1EnERR monagement
BALEERBERLA senvices
RUEERE
Start Well Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HEERARLT Bt WBTERR REZR
Fully Concept Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(Formerly known as B WEREER &2k
Hong Kong Life Group
Holdings Limited)
(HBERLREAER
%)
Merit Capital Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BofEARLE 3 2EREBR REZR
BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES - 22 MEBASIZER —4&

continued
Place of Nominal value
incorporation of issued and Percentage of equity atfributable Principal
Name and operations paid-up share to the Company activities
£R ARRIREELY BEARARROEE ARAREREZAMM TERH
201 2010
—B--f tE-EF
Direct Indirect ~ Direct  Indirect
% L B% f:
Allied Effort Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 95% - 95%  Property development
EABRAR Y 1008 &R management, frading,
leasing, consulfancy
%R EB RE.
BE - EERH
Loyal Truth Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
TEEXARLE BE 1007 EER IES &
Blissful Year Limifed Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
B 1008 5B R ES &
Ascent Hill Limifed Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of
] 2000008 EBR management
services
RUEBRE
Hong Kong Life Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100% - 100%  Trading, retailing
ERARSEERLA EA 10000B 5 ER and wholeseling
g5 TERME
Hong Kong Life Group Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ERLGERARLT EEE 1XTEER REBR
882HK Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
B 100 &R NERE
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES - 22. MBASIZzEH &

continued

Place of Nominal value

incorporation of issued and Percentage of equity atfributable Principal
Name and operations paid-up share to the Company activities
£8 AMAIREELS ERTRARRAEE ARREEREZAAL ITER

2011 2010
ZE--%& I S5:3

Direct  Indirect Direct  Indlirect
E# B E# B

Cheerful Year Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
B 100 &R HES e

Civic Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$198 - 89.9% - 89.9%  Properties investment
B 198 ERR UES'E

Good Day Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
BE 10087 EER IES &

Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
B 1002 5B R HIES e

Happy Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
B 100 &R HIES

Fully Kingdom Limifed Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
B 1008 B8R HESE

Rich Wealthy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 90% - 90%  Properties investment
BE 1007 EER IES &

HK126 Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$199 - 89.45% - 89.45%  Properties investment
3 198 EBR HES e

* During the year ended 30 June 2011, the Company * RBEZE=ZT-—F~A=+HL1LE

disposed Good United Management Limited and FEAQATEHEGood United

CNPC Huayou Cu Energy Investment Co., Limited. Management Limited & 2 i # B §E R

BRRAEREELH

EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY 23. R—REXEEHSEZRE
CONTROLLED ENTITY

2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FExT
Unlisted investment: FLEMRE:
Share of net assets EhEEFE 1,154 -
Goodwill GRS 63,828
64,982 -
Details of the jointly controlled entity at 30 June 2011 R-ZE——FXRA=THZHREHE
are as follows: XEBENT
Percentage of
ownership
Place of Issued and inferest/
incorporation/ paid up voting power/
Name registration capital profit sharing Principal activities
BHRES TRE/
A% EMAY RS ERITRBERAE AB2EZERL FEXH
Max Strong Limited British Virgin Islands Registered capital 50%  Investment holding
RBREZES of US$50,000 REER
FFMEZS50,000% T
On 14 January 2011, Casdon acquired 50% equity N=—Z——E—HF+mA  Casdonli &
inferest in Max Strong Limited (*Max Strong”). Max Strong Limited ([Max Strongl) 2
Max Strong is the non-controlling shareholder of 50%MR A fE 3 o Max Strong# 2 52 H >
the Group. Max Strong, through its wholly-owned R R - Max StrongZEBH 2 & [}
subsidiary, holds 10% infterests in the Group’s BARAREXAEEWB AR (ZE QTR
subsidiaries holding the land leased for the provision ErhHEURHEALSE) V10%E
of shrine for memorial ancestor. o
Annual Report 2011 BEBEDEBERERAT
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23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY 23. R—EHHAREFHNERZIRE-
CONTROLLED ENTITY - continued &
The following amounts are the Group’s share of the LTHRERFTEEREREARZAE
jointly controlled entities that are accounted for by EEEEEEFSEE

the equity method:

2011
—E——F

HK$

BT
At 30 June RAB=+H
Non-current assets FREEE 1,177
Current liabilities wEEE (23)
Net assets EEZFE 1,154
Year ended 30 June BEAA=THILLEE
Turnover = -
Expenses a3 18

24. INVENTORIES 24. B &
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$000
FHET FHBT
Finished goods, at cost B R 61 -
25. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES 25 FEmEYE

The Group'’s properties held for sales are situated in AEBZEESENEDUREE
Hong Kong. All of the properties held for sales are EREFESEVENDERARUZEFE
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. ZBIREDIER -

BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

26. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 26. FEEPME
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiEx
Balance at beginning of year FH&ER 15,890 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — BB QR

(note 37(b)) (HHEE37 (D)) - 13,902
Additions during the year FRRE 16,591 1,988
Transfer to properties held for sale EBEEEF{EFEYE (25.451) -
Balance at end of year FRERR 7,030 15,890
The properties under development are situated BREBYEMREBEE LI (BHEHA
on the leasehold land in the Hong Kong under &) BEVYEDNSIBERARBEE R
medium-term lease. Properties under development FAEEBYXRREREBCEEHEDRK

are classified as current asset as the construction REBEERBHANTHK °

period of the relevant property development project

is expected to complete in the normal operating

cycle.

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 27. FE W BR =R B H it FE W R TE LA R

PREPAYMENTS B RRIE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Trade receivables FEUWTER X 3,596 10

Other receivables and Hih g R E SR E

prepayments 17.636 5,742
21,232 5,752

Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 27. FEM AR 3R B H fth FE W =R IE LA R

PREPAYMENTS - continued EHRIE-&

The Group's trading terms with customers are AEEREFZESHATERUDH
mainly on installment basis (2010: on credit basis). FRX(ZE—ZEFE . EEER)ET -2
The credit terms are generally 30 days from the EfR—-RAPEAHEE AR (=
installment due date (2010: 180 days on credit T—-ZF 1808 UEEFER) - K&
term).The Group seeks to maintain strict control over EHOBERKE ZERRE - EETE
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are HEMEaRER -

reviewed regularly by the Directors.

The aging analysis of frade receivables, based on REZARMKREBELZ BERERIZEK
the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: BT :
2011 2010
—B——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT
0 fo 90 days 0HZE90H 15 -
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H - 10
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H 3,581 -
3,596 10
EBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 27. FEM AR 3R B H fth FE W =R IE LA R

PREPAYMENTS - continued FRARE-&

As of 30 June 2011, trade receivables of R-ZZE——FXA=+H" #1,037,000
approximately HK$1,037,000 (2010: Nil) were past BT (ZE-ZEF . BE)2EKREFAD
due but not impaired. These relate to a number of BHETERBE EHERERRDES
independent customers for whom there is no recent BUBMAMENR B 2B LEF AR -
history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade WERKBRERZRRSTOT

receivables is as follows:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Up to 3 months B%={EA 525 -
3 to 6 months =ZxEA 512 -
1,037 -
28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 28 BMAFEHERBANRZEME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Equity securities, at fair value BRAFES  RAFE
Listed in Hong Kong REBED 7.719 -
Market value of listed securities tHm# %2 Hm{E 7.719 -
Annual Report 2011 BEREDEEEREGRAT
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 28. RATFELEBRANRZEME
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - E-8&
continued
The carrying amounts of the above financial assets tiemEEZREBEIENOT

are classified as follows:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Designated as fair value through  REXEREEES
profit or loss on initial BAFELEBREAR
recognition 7.719 -
The investments included above represent FXHEHNWZ2HBEERERLETRAES 2
investments in listed equity securities that offer the BRE BFEREZAEFEHSEBRR
Group the opportunity for return through dividend BERWARLAFEKREMESEHR -5E
income and fair value gains. They have no fixed BREVYEEEIHAREL R
maturity or coupon rate.
The fair values of listed securities are based on thESsAFEDRBEENZHREME ©
current quoted prices.
29. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 29. RITRIASBEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Bank and cash balances UTHE%EZ
denominated in: RITRBESET
Hong Kong dollar BT 19,753 5,200
Renminbi AR - 2,482
United States dollar ESH 1,078 1,079
Singaporean dollar N3 7T 145 169
20,976 8,930

EREGEEZRERAR Annual Report 2011
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29. BANK AND CASH BALANCES -

contfinued

At 30 June 2010, approximately HK$2,482,000
included in the balance represented bank deposits
denominated in Renminbi placed with banks in the
PRC by the Group. The remifttance of these funds
out of the PRC is subject to the exchange control

restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

M HRME

20. RITRIAEEE-F

RZZE-ZFAA=Z1+H BE&EKRT
BREAEEFHRRTEBEARTUAR
AT EZRITIF RN 52482,0008 7T °
KZEETERPESNEZTEABA
SNEE B2 BRE o

30. FEfTERM R HbEMAREBELR

ACCRUED LIABILITIES fEztEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FExT
Trade payables FE{FBRFX 45 27

Other payables and accrued HittEAFERETAE

liabilities 37,040 35,137
37,085 35,164

The aging analysis of frade payables, based on the

date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

BNRTRERER A ZREDMAOT

2011 2010

—E——F —E2-ZF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

0 to 90 days OHZE90H 18 -
91 to 180 days 91HZ180H - 27
181 to 365 days 181H&E365H - -
Qver 365 days HBiB365H 27 -
45 27

Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities

recognised by the Group.

M HRME

CEEBIHEAR

AEEER2TEELEHREEENT

Fair value adjustments on

business combination

HEESH 2 AFERE
2011 2010
S —z-2F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
(restated)
(E350)
Balance at beginning of year FHRER 263 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—EHEAR
(note 37(b)) (237 (b)) - 263
Balance at end of year FRERR 263 263

At the end of the reporting period the Group
has unused tax losses of HK$94,961,000
(2010:HK$29,376,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

BEREDEEERARAF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

REBEBHAR AEEFE4,961,000% T
(ZZ—F 5 129,376,000 ) 2KE
AR IEEE A AR R FOEF o R E
S TRURI R ARE R HOR - A bt 36 5 1 IR
EBREE °
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32. BORROWINGS 32. & &
2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiEx
Unsecured promissory note IR R R - 87.205
The borrowings are repayable BEZERBNOT :
as follows:
On demand or within one year RERSE—FR - -
In the second year RE—F - -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZFHEF
(BEEREWE) - 87,205
After five years hFE#® - -
- 87,205
Less: Amount due for settlement W R 28 B BB E 2 R
within 12 months (shown (FIAREBEE)
under current liabilities) - -
Amount due for settlement M12ME B BB EIEEE 25
affer 12 months - 87,205
The carrying amounts of the Group'’s borrowings are AEBEEZRABEDETE -
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
Annual Report 2011 BREDEEEZERERAT
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32. BORROWINGS - continued 32. BE-4&
As at 30 June 2010, unsecured promissory note of RZE—FFXA=+H" 87205000
HK$87,205,000 was unsecured, repayable in one BAZEERBANEZEAERT R
lump sum on the date falling three years from its TEEH(ZE—ZEFHEA=-++tAH)#E:t
date of issue (27 May 2010) and bore no interest. WZFZH—EBEERTHE -
Unsecured
promissory
note
EIERANR
HK$'000
FHExT
Principal sum on date of issue RETHHZEAEE 130,000
Fair value adjustment at the REBETRAHZATFERE
issuance date (39.707)
At initial recognition RE R R 90,293
Effective interest rate BERA= 13.45%
The movement of unsecured promissory note was as MIEWEARNEZSBOT :
following:
2011 2010
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FiEx
Balance at beginning of year FH&E 87.205 -
At initial recognition RERER - 90,293
Imputed finance cost HEBE KA 38,795 912
Repayments B (126,000) (4,000)
Balance at end of year FRER - 87,205
On 17 January 2011, the Group repaid R-ZZ2——F—-—B++tHB KXEBM@E
HK$126,000,000 to the holder of the promissory note. FTEZFE AfEIE126,000,000% 7T °
BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. TR ESH

Annual Report 2011
-5 FRK

On 27 May 2010, the Company issued convertible
bonds with a principal amount of HK$850 million as
part of the consideration to acquire Casdon. The
convertible bonds were denominated in Hong Kong
dollar, unsecured, tfransferrable and interest-free. The
convertible bonds entitled the holders thereof fo
convert the convertible bonds, in whole or in partf,
into ordinary shares of the Company at a conversion
price of HK$0.25 per share during the period from
the date of issue to 27 May 2016 (the “Maturity
Date”).The Company also has the option to redeem
all or any of the outstanding convertible bonds at
any time prior to the Maturity Date, at par.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component of the convertible bonds was calculated
using an effective interest rate of 12.92% for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. The equity
component of the convertible bonds was recognised
at fair value and was included in convertfible bonds

reserve in equity.

RZBE-ZFFEA=-++B  AAFH
177~ £ %8 %850,000,0007% T = A #2 I% 1§
% XA W EBCasdonz K& © 7]
BREFBTEHE - BER  TEER
RE-ABRBREFZHEEATRETH
HEZE-_Z-—XFHEA=-+tA (THH
D LHIEZEESR25B T 2R REX
THRREFE2HBRBVERZEAQITZ
ZER - ARBTFAIEERIEAAE
AREBZEEED 2 FEMEREE
ZABRRES ©

REXBRE TRRESZ2EEHRD
ZAFEDREBENAARRESZE
BRI R12.92%F H - TR E S 2 S
MOBRDFPEBRIALT ABRFH TR
RIESHHME -
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33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS - continued 33. I RRESH B

The movement of liability component of convertible THRRESCEENRMMNEFHNT :
bonds was as following:

2011 2010

—E-—F —E-EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FHET

Balance at beginning of year FH&ER 252,672 -

Issuance of convertible bonds BITUBRES - 409,915

Imputed finance costs HE A R A 22,486 2,555

Conversion to ordinary shares ERAEER (164.,334) (159,798)

Balance at end of year FRERR 110,824 252,672

The fair value of the equity component of the TR ESE o REEONAFTEIS

convertible bonds, amounted to approximately 356,280,000 7t > T3 A48 0 E—EF R HT

HK$356,280,000, was calculated using the Black- HETEEXHE fAZERXcTE
Scholes model with the major inputs in the model as EEWT :

follows:

At 27 May 2010

R-E-ZFHEB=-++tH

Expected volatility TEHAR 8 63.585%

Expected life TEHAFHA 6.01 years4

Risk free rate 3 B A = 1.53%

Expected dividend yield TEHIRE®E 0%

BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34, &
Number of Amount
Note Shares HK$'000
k)
Wi aE LG TER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares EBR
At 1 July 2009 and 30 June 2010, RZZZAFtE-HEK
at HK$0.01 each “E-EERA=TAH-
SREME00AT 20,000,000,000 200,000
Share consolidation of 10 ordinary  B#A& 4 (10REREE0.01ETZ
shares of HK$0.01 each info ZAREHRIRERERE
1 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  0.1B T2 EBER) (vi) (18,000,000,000) -
Increase during the year FREm 8,000,000,000 800,000
At 30 June 2011, at HKS0.1 each  RZZE——FXB=+H >
SREME0ITET 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
Ordinary shares EBR
At 1 July 2009, ot HKS0.01 each ~ R=ZEBh&E+A—8
SREME00ET 1,762,841,428 17,628
Shares issued on exercise of options B iR & /T K 81T 2 R 1 0) 18,670,000 187
Placing of shares RERHD (if) 160,000,000 1,600
Subscription of shares RERS (i) 122,160,000 1,222
Issue of shares on conversion of TR REHFBRERT2RHE
convertible bonds (iv) 1,320,000,000 13,200
At 30 June 2010 and at 1 July 2011, RZE-FFXA=1+HR
at HK$0.01 each R=ZZB-——F+tA-8"
SRAEME00ET 3,383,671,428 33,837
Placing of shares, at HK$0.01 each  BIESREE0.01E T2 KA v) 74,100,000 741
Issue of shares on conversion of ~ MRBEFBRERTER
convertible bonds, AECOIET 2R A
at HK$0.01 each (vi) 680,000,000 6,800
Share repurchase B0 R 5 8) -
Share consolidation of 10 ordinary R & 6 (10K SR EE0.018 T
shares of HK$0.01 each info ZEBRAGAIRER
1 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each  E{E0. 1Bz ERBR) (vii) (3.723,994,278) -
Rights issue of shares, UREABTEREEBT
at HKS0.1 each ZRH (viil) 1,241,331,426 124,133
Placing of shares, at HK$0.1 each  ELESREE0.1E T 2 K (ix) 356,160,000 35,616
Issue of shares on conversion of  TRBEFBRERTER
convertible bonds, ot HK$0.1 each  E1E0.15# w2 i3 (x) 125,733,444 12,573
At 30 June 2011, at HKS0.1 each  RZE-—-FXA=1H>
SREME0IET 2,137,002,012 213,700
Annual Report 2011 BREDEEEZERERAT
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BE-FE——FXA=THILFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL - continued

Changes in the share capital of the Company

during the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2011 were

as follows:

®

(i

(iii)

(V)

)

vi

The Company allotted and issued 10,525,000,
6,070,000 and 2,075,000 shares of HKS$0.01
each for cash at the exercise prices of HK$0.08,
HKS$0.147 and HK$0.1006 per share respectively,
as a result of the exercise of share options.

During November 2009, the Company
entered info a placing agreement for placing
160,000,000 shares to independent investors
at a price of HK$0.25 per placing share. The
placing was completed in December 2009.

During December 2009, the Company
entered into a subscription agreement with
fwo subscribers by capitalising the loan
of approximately HK$38,650,000 owed by
the Company to the subscribers. The loan
capitalisation was completed in December
2009.

During the year ended 30 June 2010, the
Company allotted and issued 1,320,000,000
shares of HK$S0.01 as a result of conversion of
convertible bonds into shares.

During August 2010, the Company entered
info a subscription agreement for placing
74,100,000 shares to an independent investor
at a price of HK$0.17 per placing share. The
placing was completed in August 2010.

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the
Company allotted and issued 680,000,000
shares of HK$S0.01 as a result of conversion of
convertible bonds info shares.

EELEREEZRERAR

HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

34.

R ME

AAARANRBE-ZE-ZER_-F
——FXAZTHLFEZZHNT :

®

(i)

(i)

(iv)

)

v

HTEBRE A28 25 %E
RIR£0.088 T -0.1478B T K&
0.10068B T 2T EB R #H K #1T
10,525,000 ~ 6,070,000 K
2,075,000/ = IR E{E0.018 T 2 &
e

R-BEAE+— A AAAY
3R 1 3 0 S R AR 490.25
BrEERBYIRAERE
160,000, 0008 43 « BB HE B
—EEAFT=ARM -

R-BEAF+=F ARARM
ERBATTRBEHE  HADT
FE 3+ F R BB A #938,650,0005% T 2
ERBRER  ARERCER=
BEAFT=ARM -

RBE-_Z-ZFEXB=+HLHF
E-BABRRESBER F2FK
2% [ $£471,320,000,000 B R EH &
0.01 BT 2R °

RZZE-ZF2FNA  AAFIT XL
R B REERR07
BRTEROBIREERY
74,100,000/ B 7 - ZEEEE R
—E-BENBRA-

RBE-Z——FXA=1THLHF
E -EURRESFBE AAFER
2 I % 17680,000,0008% & 1% | &
0.01 BT ZRM ©
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BE-FE——FXA=THILFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL - continued

(vii) During October 2010, the Company proposed

a share consolidation of every 10 issued
and unissued shares of HK$0.01 each into
1 consolidated share of HKS$0.10 each. As
approved by shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 2 December 2010,
the share consolidation became effective on 3
December 2010.

(viii) During October 2010, the Company proposed

(x)

)

Annual Report 2011
—E -5 F R

a rights issue on the basis of three rights shares
for every one consolidated share held. During
January 2011, 1,241,331,426 rights shares
were allofted and issued fo the qualifying
shareholders at a subscription price of HKS$0.20
per rights share. The rights shares rank pari
passu in all respects with the existing shares of
the Company. The rights issue was approved
by shareholders on 2 December 2010 and
completed in January 2011.

During May 2011, the Company entered info
a placing agreement with a placing agent for
placing an aggregate of 356,160,000 shares to
not less than 6 independent placees at a price
of HK$0.10 per placing share. The placing was
completed in May 2011.

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the
Company allotted and issued 125,733,444
shares of HKS0.10 as a result of conversion of

convertible bonds into shares.

R ME

34. A -5

(i) REE-BE+A  RDDRE

TRIDEH/M  BETREREEO.O]
BLIZBEBOIRABITROEHSD
—REREEOIOEBTZEHRMG °
ERRR-Z2-ZF+-AZRE
TZBRRERNRE LHESR RO
EHER=Z-ZEF+-A=H%
e

i R=B—BE+H  ARTREM

(ix)

0

R -BEESBFE-REHROA
ERH=ZRERRG -R=F——
F—H > 1,241,331,4268% £ B2 % 15
EREBRO20BTZABERER
BOTEERRR -HBRROETSE
FHERALAAZ2REROGEERSE
M- HRR-ZF-FF+ZAZ
HERRMEIER-ZT——F—
Bk

RZZBE-——FF7A ARAHEHEE
REFTIEEHRZ BEREER
B010EB T 2 EREAT D RANEE
B A B E S 356,160,000
R - ZEREER=-Z2——F18
B -

RBE-Z-——F<A=+tHLHF
E-BURESFBER  A2F/K
R EA7125,733, 444 BREE
0.10B T 2R -
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35. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements

therein are presented in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income and consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

®

@i

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium
account of the Company are distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off ifs
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve arisen from the Group’s
reorganisation on 27 February 2002 and
represented the excess of the combined net
assets of the subsidiaries acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’s issued shares.

EELEwEEZRERAR

HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

M HRME

. &

FEERBSEREBCNES2ENK
BRRGEEZHPRED -

HEZHEREY
() KiDEE

(i)

RERSESQAREZRE A2
ARMEERAZEETDIRTA
NARFK HEERBIKRSEAE
RARABRENEEREELHE
Bz EH -

BEXHE

ERRBER-ZETE-FE AT
AzAEBEARESL  RRMK
BeWBELARANGHEEFERSB
ARABRECBITROZEEZH -
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BE-—FE——FAXA=THILFE

35. RESERVES - continued

Nature and purpose of reserves - continued

(iii)

@v)

Annual Report 2011
—TE-—EFR

Convertible bonds reserve

On 27 May 2010, the Company issued six years
zero-coupon Hong Kong dollar convertible
bonds, due on 27 May 2016 ("The Bonds"), for a
principal amount of HK$850,000,000 which was
part of the consideration for the acquisition
of Casdon. The Bonds are convertible, at the
option of bondholders info ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each of the Company at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.25 per share, at any
fime from 27 May 2010 up to and including 27
May 2016.

The Bonds contain two components, a liability
and an equity element. The liability component
is carried as a non-current liability at amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The equity element is presented in
equity as "Convertible bonds reserve”.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-seftled share-based
payments in note 5(u) to the financial
statements.

35. EE &

REZHEREN -8

(iii)

()

AR E S

RZE-ZFHRA=-+LtA >
KRABBTAREHRZ2ETEEET
ABMRES R-ZZE—-XFRLA
Zt+EHEBAESD A28
#850,000,000%8 Tt B R WE
Casdonz Bt RE - EHHFH A
AR—_ZEZ-ZTFRBA-_t+tHER
—E-RFEHEA=-t++tH (B8FZ%H)
IEEAE MR - RIEBIERER0.25
BIZUTHRREKESERRAE
ANFEREECIGET 2 EER -

BEHBEMMBN -~ EERERID -
EERORBEREUERDEE
MERFER BEERBRRIEDR
BEEEBEBERL HENONE
mHSMEI AR ESFEE] -

BREMRE

BREMGERBMBRRMNE
S(WFEHBEREEURDASER
NRARN2ETRRERRARE
EREEERRGTEREERTE
BREBEZAFE-
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35. RESERVES - continued 35. e — &

HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Nature and purpose of reserves - continued

(v) Foreign currency franslation reserve

The foreign currency franslation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the franslation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 5(d) to the financial

statements.

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company currently operates a share option
("Options”) scheme (the "Scheme”), which was
adopted on 13 May 2002, for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or may contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised Options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme
is an amount equivalent to, upon their exercise, 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of the approval of the Scheme or the date of the
general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit under
the Scheme. The limit on the number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Options granted under the Scheme must not exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time
fo time. The maximum number of shares issuable
under the Scheme to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the number of shares of the Company in issue at
any fime.

EELEwEEZRERAR

36.

REZHEREN -8
(V) IMEBERHE
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RSN ER -

B REFAT FREMERITEZ
BREZESHE HER(EHET
FEBF) HEEFT 2V E B S EH T8 2 10%R
BeBRRASEEHAXRQASHTRNZ
10%  BEATEFF AR5 FH B R 5 R 1T
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - continued 36. Ui BERZHR—4E&
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The offer of a grant of the Options may be accepted
in writing within 21 days from the date of the offer,
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HKS$1
in fotal by the grantee. The exercise period of the
Options granted is determined by the Board and
shall not be more than ten years from the date
of the grant of the Options. The Scheme does not
require a minimum period for which the Options
must be held nor a performance target which must
be achieved before the Options can be exercised.

The subscription price will be determined by the
Board, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant of the Options; (ii) the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the Options; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the
date of offer.

During the year, 17,800,000 (2010: Nil) Options
were granted to certain eligible participants and
no (2010: 18,670,000 Options) Options, which were
granted in previous years have been exercised.

ETEREz2Z2Z TREZEZAY
E2QIANBEARAINRBERERLE
TRUEEEAEZEMN CEREZERE
ZOTEPHEZSEE PRARLE
REZBEBFREEB+F - sTEWLESR
ERAFEBRECREDR  TERE
REREETEANRAZIXRBEER -

PRESHMESEEE  BRBER
(IR 19 WA 42 1 B AR B 2 B 7E 6 2 7 2 W
HE (HAAAROGREEEHBRE
AMAMAERS A ERI A2 FHKD
B R>HRIESEHAQTARG 2 EE
(UABBEEBRE) o

RER A2 7EH17,800,0001% (=& —
ZFE BMOETRERSHEREZE
B BEFERH2ERBEYLE (=%
—Z 5 118,670,000 B IR fE) SRETTHE ©
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - continued 36. Ui BERBZHR—4E&

Details of movements in the Options held by eligible
participants are as follows:

RERSEESACEREZZHFE
Ul

201
“E--F
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted cancelled Exercised Exercise
Date of price*  Outstanding during during during  Oufstanding period of
grant HKS  at1/7/2010 the year the year the year  at 30/6/2011 Options
R-2-%F R=%--%
e tA-B Erkiu/ ~A=TA BhE
RHAH B R EREH HH# ERfR HRTE liE]
Eligible participants  2/2/2011 0.18 - 17,800,000 - - 17,800,000  2/2/2011 fo
RERSEE 1/2/2016
- 17,800,000 - - 17,800,000
2010
“E-%%
Lapsed/
Exercise Granted cancelled Exercised Exercise
Date of price*  Outstanding during during during  Oufstanding period of
grant HKS ot 1/7/2009 the year the year the year  at 30/6/2010 Options
R-Z2Z1E R-2-%F
k@ tA-A Frku/ ~A=TA BhE
RHAH B AT ERRd HH ERfTl AT TH
Eligible participants 1/11/2004 0.1006 2,075,000 - - (2,075,000 - 1/11/2004 to
RERSEE 30/10/2009
30/9/2004 0.147 6,070,000 - - (6,070,000 - 30/9/2004 fo
29/9/2009
10/9/2004 0.08 10,525,000 - - (10,525,000) - 10/9/2004 to
9/9/2009
18,670,000 - - (18,670,000) -
* The exercise price of the Options is subject to * REBRRARBEITRADAREAEEE

adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

EELE R EEZRERAR
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - continued 36. Ui BERBZHR—4E&
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During the year ended 30 June 2011, there was no
exercise of the Options. During the year ended 30
June 2010, the exercise in full of the Options resulted
in the issue of 18,670,000 addifional ordinary shares
of the Company at additional share capital of
HK$186,700 and share premium of approximately
HK$1,756,335 (before issue expenses).

At 30 June 2011, the number of shares in respect
of which Opftions had been granted and remained
outstanding under the scheme was 0.8% (2010: Nil%)
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

The risk-free interest rate represents the yields fo
maturity of respective Hong Kong Exchange Fund
Note as at 2 February 2011.

The Group recognised the fotal expenses of
approximately HK$1,847,000 for the year ended 30
June 2011 (2010: Nil) in relation to Options granted
by the Company.

There was no issue, exercise or lapse of any Opfions
subsequent to the reporting date. At the date of
approval of these financial statements, the Company
has outstanding Options of 890,000 (2010: nil) being
the impact of the share consolidation of every 20
issued and unissued shares of the Company info
one consolidated share (note 44 (ii)).

REBEEZZE-——F5XAZ1THLFE:
VTEBERERTE RBEEZE-Z2-FF
NREZTHLEFE 2BTRBRES
BHA XTI FEINE1718,670,000R & &
BR o 1B N AR A<186,700% T R R IEEL
1,756,335/ 7T (RIMNKRETHZ) -

R-E-——FAA=+A kHEBTE
5 48 473 R 4T 6 2 R RS R 2 IR B
BRERZA BT RTRE 20.8%
(Z2—TF %) o

BEBANRER-Z-——F-A=-HMH
BHEBNEESRBEZEHEIRE -

AEERBE-ZT-——FXA=THL
FERALRARH 2BREER L
#71,847,0008 T (ZE—FF : \) -

RBEANREBEEMBREZET
TERERM - RILEZSHBHRERZA -
A8 22 B 890,00017 1 AR 17 £ 88 IR 4 (=
Z-ZF 8 KAXLAE20RE %
TRABTROAGHAE -REHRDZ
%10 & O 49 8 8 (B RE44(iD)) -
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - continued

The fair value of the Share Options was derived from

Black-Scholes option pricing model by applying the

M HRME

iR BREEZR -8

ZEBRENDOFEUB IR - FHEH
HREEEASH FRAZEERR

following bases and assumptions: R
Note 2011 2010
Mt 5 —E——F —E-TF
Dividend yield BE=E Nil #& Nil £
Expected volatility AR IE 0) 68.746% Nil &
Risk-free rate MR P = ii) 1.699% Nil %
Contractual option life (years) AHNBREEH (£F) 5 Nil #&
Exercise price (HKS per share)  {TEE (ERET) 0.180 Nil &
Price of the Company’s share AARRGREL B H
at the date of grant WER (BRET)
(HK$ per share) (i) 0.180 Nil #&
Notes: Ffi 5
(i) The expected volatility of the Options was calculated () BREZEHREDRERAGAZESE

@i

(i)

(V)

)

v

based on the historical stock price of the Company.
It is assumed that the volatility is constant throughout
the option life.

The risk free rate has made reference to the yield of
the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes (*EFN") as at
the date of grant. In this calculation, the yield of 5-year
EFN has been adopted in the estimation of risk-free
rate for the Options.

The price of the Company’s share disclosed as at the
date of grant of the Options was the closing price on
which the aforesaid Options were granted.

The value of the Options is subject to the limitations of
the Black-Scholes option pricing model and a number
of assumptions which are subjective and difficult to
ascertain. Changes in subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

The outstanding Options as at 30 June 2011 had a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.59
years (30 June 2010: Nil).

If the Options are forfeited before expiration or lapsed,
the related share option reserve will be fransferred
directly to the accumulated losses of the Company.

EELEwEEZRERAR
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REHE  LHRFNERESH2RIE
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ERBFEDSREBIEESRE (5
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Bl R R F LA I R 2 B E R R K o

RERERHBABREAXTRME
BARHMELABREER ZWHE-

ZEBREZEBEDZ RO - SR
HEEEREA CRAURSZEREIERSE
LBEZBRAZE TERRZED
AHATVEGESERERTGE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of jointly controlled entities

For the year ended 30 June 2010, the Company
disposed investments in jointly conftrolled
entities, Changde Huayou Gas Co., Limited

("Changde Huayou”) and

Hunan Huayou

Natural Gas Transportation and Distribution

M HRME

37. ZERERERMEE

(a)

HEXAREHER

RBE-Z-ZF A=Z1THLHF
E ALAHEENLARZGER
BREEBARRARQB ([EEER]
RHEERRARGBEAREED
BA(AEER) 2RE-HESRE

Company Limited (*Hunan Huayou”). Details of 2B MT
the disposal was summarised as follows:
Changde Hunan
Huayou Huayou Total
BEER WEER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx Fh Fhx
NET ASSETS DISPOSED FHEZEEFE
Property, plant and equipment 0 BERSE 111,868 116,864 228,732
Goodwill L 26,227 23,227 49,454
Construction in progress TRIE 3,886 - 3.886
Prepaid lease payments EREEHNE 13,513 2,199 15,712
Inventories RE 1,504 576 2,080
Trade receivables, deposits, prepayments EUERF -« % ¢ BNRER
and other receivables Hitt WA 9,779 317 10,096
Bank balances and cash RiTHERERES 35,459 3,838 39,297
Trade payables, accrued liabilities BAED  EHEER
and other payables HibEAFHE (11.987) (3,674) (15,661)
Tox liabilities HESHE (1,162) @n (1,203)
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE (15.114) (91,791 (106,905)
Net assets FEE 173,973 51,515 225,488
Less: Release of translation reserve B BRRERE (14,220) (5,770 (19,990)
Gain on disposal HEWS 129,756 67,951 197,707
Total consideration BRE 289,509 113,696 403,205
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: REEMEEZRERAFE:
Cash consideration HeNRE 289,509 113,696 403,205
Bank balances and cash ROLEERES (35,459) (3.838) (39.297)
254,050 109,858 363,908

Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -
continued

3. ZERERERME-E

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (b) WEE—REMBAT

During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group REZ=-Z-—ZEANA=Z1+BHLE
E o REELLH961,488,0008 5Tt 2
REUWEECasdonZ100% R AR ©

acquired 100% equity interest in Casdon at a
consideration of approximately HK$961,488,000.

Details of the net assets acquired and goodwill TN EEBENBEE2ERN

are as follows: T
Fair value
ATE
HK$'000
FHBT
(restated)
(E5)

NET ASSETS ACQUIRED FREE 2 & EFE

Property, plant and equipment Y BEREE 75
Prepaid lease payments FEREERIE 25,465
Properties under development BREPYE 13,902

Trade and other receivables and

P W B R I L A FE WRROR

prepayments PSSR E S 16,121
Bank balances and cash IRITHEEFRERS 18
Trade payables, accrued liabilities EAERR - BtEER

and other payables HAth B RRIE (30,843)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE (263)
Non-controlling interests R RE R (2,402)

22,073
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEzEE

(Note 21) (FH&EE21) 939,415

Total consideration BRE 961,488

EREDEEERARAF
HONG KONG LIFE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -

3. ZERERERME-E

continued
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary - continued (b) WEE—FEIMIBAT -4
Fair value
AFE
HK$'000
FET
(restated)
(E%)
SATISFIED BY TRAER
Cash Be 85,000
Fair value of secured promissory BHEMENEZATFE
note (Note i) (B 5ED 20,000
Fair value of unsecured promissory EIKFEANEZDAFE
note 90,293
Issuance of convertible bonds BIUBRRES 766,195
961,488

Net cash outflow arising on
acquisition:

Cash consideration

Bank balances and cash acquired

Net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the
acquisition of a subsidiary

WEEE 2R ERHIFE

HERE 85,000
RS RTEERRS a8)
BEWE-EHEATZRSR
B ZEEE R EE

84,982

Annual Report 2011
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Note i: On 27 May 2010, secured promissory note
of HK$20,000,000 was issued as part of
consideration for the acquisition of Casdon.
The promissory nofe was secured by 100%
of the issued share capital of Good United
Management Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The secured
promissory note was fully settled before 30
June 2010.

MEi: RZFE-FFHEA=-1+tH A207
% 1720,000,000%% 7T = B & &S B
ERWECasdonz B RME - BRI
RHERUADRZZENE X RGood
United Management Limited 2 2 &5
ERTRAMEER - BRAAN T
R-ZE-ZFXA=1+RHAEE-

ERENEEZERARLD S
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED . ZEBERERME &
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -
continued
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries (c) HEMEBAT
On 28 February 2011, the Company disposed its R—_EBE-—-——=EZ-_A=-+NAH"
subsidiary, Good United Management (*GUM") AABRAMARBZ —EBIE=
(fogether with GUM’s subsidiary "Disposal FHEHEKE X AGood United
Group”) to an independent third party of the Management Limited ([ GUM J)
Company. The net liabilities of the Disposal (EEGUMz B ARG BAIHE
Group at the date of disposal were as follows: 8] HEEBEREEBHZE
BEFEOT :
Disposal
Group
HERE
HK$'000
FET
Net liabilities disposed FHEZBEFHE
Property, plant equipment Y BMEREE 23
Prepayment, deposits paid and FEARE BEfNfEER
other receivables Hth FE R SR IE 31
Bank balances and cash RITEEFERERS 1,226
Other payables and accrual liabilities HitEARERESES (2.659)
(1.379)
Release of translation reserve BRI ERE (4,260)
Non-controlling interests FEERER (15,099)
Gain on disposal HEZKRE 20,738
Total consideration BRE -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEZRSREFHE
Cash consideration ReRE -
Bank balances and cash BITHEEFRRE (1,226)
(1.226)

BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 38.

(a) During the year ended 30 June 2011, the
Group incurred finance costs on convertible
bonds and unsecured promissory nofe
of approximately HK$61,281,000 (2010:
HK$23,835,000).

(b) During the year ended 30 June 2010, the
Group capitalised borrowings of approximately
HK$38,650,000 by subscription of shares on 16
December 2009.

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group and the Company
did not have any significant contingent liabilities
(2010: Nil).

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40.

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

M HRME

FEHRERSH

(o) RBE=-Z——FXA=Z+BHLF
B AEEEETRRES REER
WAENRZBER A $61,281,000
B (ZF—ZF :23,835000%
JT) e

b) RBE=ZZE-—ZEFXA=Z+THL
FE AEER-ZZAFE+ZA

TAREBEBRBROZEABLY
38,650,000 B T 2 fEEBMTEA -

HABE
R-B——EAA=+H AEERK

DAV EEFAEARIREEB(ZE-FF !
) o

BEXxiE

AEBRBERRZEREFENT ¢

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FTER FExT
Capital expenditure in respect of HBEBER—BEHBLATREZ
the investment in a subsidiary EREARTHEREL
authorised but not contracted for - 44,667
Capital expenditure in respect of HBEERBYWEZERHL
the properties under
development - 23,052
Capital expenditure in respect of BEIREMER M —
sole distribution right of the DI EREX
paper-offering business 488 414
488 68,133
Annual Report 2011 EREDEEZRERAR
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41. LEASE COMMITMENTS 41. HERE
At 30 June 2011 the total future minimum lease RZB——FXB=1TH BITAHEHHE
payments under non-cancellable operating leases KEHEREN oA RREREREHLLEE
are payable as follows: M
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FERT FET
Within one year —FR 488 531
In the second to fifth years B_ERHF
inclusive (BIEEEME) 141 609
629 1,140
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable RS EANERENETRAS
by the Group for certain of its offices. Leases are 2 - HPBEEFEHE-—Z=F iR
negotiated for an average term of two to three years H&£T%  BEXEEIRES -
and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do
not include contingent rentals.
42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. FAEANTXR 5
(a) Compensation of Directors and key management (a) EERFTEETEBAEZHM
personnel
2011 2010
e =E-%F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FET
Shortterm benefits g HRE R 8,244 2,759
Post-employment benefits EBeEA 44 23
8,288 2,782
BEBEWEBERERAT Annual Report 2011
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -

M HRME

42. FAEANTRX S &

continued
(b) Balances with related parties (b) REVEALZEER
2011 2010
S —z-%%
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
H=E TERT TET
Amount due from a BWAAE—ERR2ZHE
shareholder of the (FT A H fth E W R 1E)
Company (included in
other receivables) () 10,000 184
Unsecured promissory notfe ENFERAT—ERRZ
due fo a shareholder of BEAERNE (FEH)
the Company
(principal amount) (iv) - 126,000
Convertible bonds held by RAF—BRREFEZ
a shareholder of the TRRES (KAL)
Company (principal
amount) ) 150,000 520,000

Notes: P EE -

(i) Red Rabbit Capital Limited ("Red Rabbit”) was a (y HREXRBRAAE ([H%]) BHCasdon
former director of Casdon. ZHES -

(i) As at 30 June 2010 and 2011, Red Rabbit was a (i R=Z2—ZFR-_ZF——FXA=+AH"
shareholder of the Company. FRERBERNBZIRE ©

(iiiy  During June 2011, the Group had placed the deposit (iy R=ZFB—-——FX B FAKECHENE
to Red Rabbit for the early redemption of convertible ERERESEMEOFRREARSE
bonds.

(iv) As at 30 June 2010, the balance of unsecured vy R=ZZ2-ZFERNRA=Z+H X28EP
promissory note at principal amount of approximately 126,000,000/ T 2 EMIEH AN E = 4
HK$126,000,000 was due to and held by Red Rabbit. BRIIENSFRRIBEIFIE REBEZEZ
During the year ended 30 June 2011, the balance of E-——FXA=+tHLEFEE &XE&HEH
unsecured promissory note at principal amount of 126,000,0005% 7t = K #3F R 2 45 8%
HK$126,000,000 was settled. BRRHEF -

(v) As at 30 June 2011, the balance of convertible bonds V) R=ZZEBE-——-FXxA=+80 &A2EH

Annual Report 2011
—TE-—EFR

at principal amount of approximately HK$150,000,000
(2010: HK$520,000,000) was due to and held by Red
Rabbit. On 30 June 2011, the principal amount of
convertible bonds at HK$50,000,000 was transferred to
an independent third party of the Company. During
the year, Red Rabbit converted the convertible bonds
at the principal amount of HK$320,000,000.

%150,000,0008 Tt (= —ZFF :
520,000,000/ 7t) 2 T2 R & % 2 & &
DESTFRRAYBEATE R-2F——
FXRA=Z+H &£ % #50000000%
TZABRREFNEETAQMAZ—F
BIYIB=F -FR FREEFEER
320,000,000/ T 2 AT R E AR ©
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43. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

43. KA ZHBEH

COMPANY
2011 2010
S —2-%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BMERRE - 2
Investments in subsidiaries RBARZRE 4,000 4,000
4,000 4,002
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and FEARE - RER
other receivables HibEUWNFRIE 16,068 194
Due from subsidiaries FEUS KB A R IE 1,076,587 975,187
Bank and cash balances RITRBESER 18,377 3,532
1,111,032 978,913
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables HAth B FIE 2,714 418
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,108,318 978,495
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBARE 1,112,318 982,497
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Borrowings Y - 87,205
Convertible bonds R ES 110,824 252,672
110,824 339,877
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,001,494 642,620
Capital and reserves R &
Share capital B 213,700 33,837
Reserves B 787,794 608,783
TOTAL EQUITY R 1,001,494 642,620

BEREDEEERARAF
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44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

®

i)

Annual Report 2011
—E -5 F R

On 2 July 2011, a total of HKS$10,000,000
convertible bonds due 27 May 2016
("Convertible Bonds") were redeemed pursuant
fo the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds. As of the date of the financial statement
the outstanding principal of the Convertible
Bonds amounted to HK$190,000,000.

On 14 July 2011, the Board proposed a share
consolidation of every 20 unissued and issued
Shares of HK$0.10 each into one consolidated
share ("Share Consolidation”) of HK$2.00 each
("Consolidated Share”).

Subject to the Share Consolidation becoming
effective, the Board proposed to effect the
capital reduction of the par value of each
issued Consolidated Share from HKS$2.00 to
HK$0.0001 by cancelling paid up capital
to the extent of HK$1.9999 on each issued
Consolidated Share ("Capital Reduction”)
and the sub-division of each authorised but
unissued Consolidated Share info 20,000 new
shares of HK$0.0001 each ("Sub-division”).

The Share Consolidation, Capital Reduction and
Sub-division were approved by shareholders
of the Company atf the extraordinary general
meeting held on 22 August 2011. The Share
Consolidation became effective on 23 August
2011.

The impact of Share Consolidation was
included in the calculation of the weighted
average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share as
set out in note 17.

M HRME

44. BEYEIEEIE

®

(i)

R-ZZE-——+tHA=H &#
10,000,000 TR =F—~<FHh
Aot tHE#MzTRBRES (7
BRREFNDERETRRES 2
TR R ER - R B xR A
HoUBRESZREELAES R
190,000,0005& 7T °

R-ZZE-——-5tA+H0B EFS
ERETROGH Bl -8=+
REREECIOETZEHITRA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1 #& ¥R Mzt

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HZE-F——FANA=+HIFE

45. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 45. LL B H 5
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified ETHBREFCEFIBEUFELRFE
to conform to the current year's presentation. The ZERAFX - FHEHEELETER
changes included the reclassification of certain RE (UESBEIAHMBEMARERES
deposits received previously classified under other ER)EFIEARDEE -BEZE
payables and accrued liabilities to current liabilities. B W2 8 m A S B 2 B A AR R 4R it
The new classification of the accounting items FEEMNER®R-

was considered to provide a more appropriate
presentation of the state of affairs of the Group.

46. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  46. #it 647 HB X

The financial statements were approved and SR EN_—_E——FNA=-+=0%
authorised for issue by the Board on 23 September EEEHERBERETE -
2011.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY HIERBE

RESULTS E 4

Year ended 30 June

BEAA=tHLEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
ZE--F  ZZ-ZF ZEBERE ZEEN\F CZIZTLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TET TET TET TET TERT

Revenue s 13,771 3,780 125,095 105,355 57,655
Cost of sales HERA (6,293) (3.763) (98.975) (86,969) (54,140)
Gross profit £ 7,478 17 26,120 18,386 3,515
Other revenue Hftnlh i 173 1,207 1,140 1,129 310
Selling expenses HERX (5.781) - - (13,598) (3.254)
Administrative expenses THEX (56,507) (38,148) (53,846) (25,884) (86,810)
Finance costs E3-§o%N (61,521) (24,969) (42,438) (37,485) (24,396)
Loss on deemed RIFEHE—H

disposal of a subsidiary WEARZEE - - - @) -
Loss on disposal of HE-BHE AR ZER

an associate - - 7) - -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B2 7 2 Wi 20,738 - - - -
Profit from discontinued BRIEEBZER

operations - 190,979 - - -
Share of result of an associote  FE{E —REHE A R ¥EE - - 124 (40) -
Share of loss of a jointly Ei-BLREHERZ

controlled entity EE (18) - - - -
(Loss)/profit before taxation  BBAT (B5#8) /37 ©95.438) 129,086 (68907)  (57.499)  (110,635)
Income fax FBH - - (1.485) 412 (464)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (FiB) /%A (95438) 129086 (70.392)  (57.087)  (111.099)
Annual Report 2011 BREDEEEZERERAT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY HIERBE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
At 30 June
RAB=TH
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

—g--% -2-%F -SINF -BINE -BRLE
HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$ 000 HK$"000
FEx | TR TEx 0 FEn FER

(restated)

(E51)
Total assets BEE 1,110,742 996,231 387,224 408,586 379,658
Total liabilities BERE 148,172 375,304 (473,953) (426,297) (371,854)
962,570 620,927 (86,729) 7,711) 7,804

Equity affributable fo owners A2 TR EE AEMGERER

of the Company 960,113 603,289 (101,784) (32,989) (7.508)
Non-controlling interests FERER 2,457 17,638 15,055 15,278 15,312
962,570 620,927 (86,729) 17,711) 7,804
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